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Strategic Report

Principal Activities

McLaren Holdings Limited (the “Company”) alongside its subsidiaries (comprising the “Group”) is a leader
in high-performance supercars and related products. During the year under review the Group constituted
the Automotive business, whilst the prior year also included the McLaren Applied business (disposed in
August 2021) and a joint venture investment in Mclaren Racing (disposed in August 2021).

Automotive

With the history of McLaren as one of the most successful teams in motorsport, McLaren Automotive
launched its first product in 2011 starting with the 12C and today is a global leader in high performance
hypercars and supercars. It.is an award-winning luxury brand focused on the design, engineering,
production and sale of luxury supercars with a particular focus on the driving experience achieved through
performance and advanced technologies. The Group has a range of luxury high performance vehicles
across four product families: GT, Supercars, Ultimate and Motorsport, and has produced ground breaklng
cars such as the iconic McLaren P1™, McLaren Senna, Speedtail and Elva

The business has established its position in the market through developing a reputation for creating cars
that have exceptional performance and design, cutting-edge technology, and an outstanding driving
experience. These factors combined with unique customer propositions and experiences, drive strong brand
loyalty, demand and pricing power. As part of the customer experience, the Group offers highly personalised
“tailormade” products through its MSO (McLaren Special Operations) subdivision, such as the bespoke
customisation of each vehicle according to the customers’ specifications.

Applied

The Applied division was disposed of by the Group in August 2021. Applied had focused on the application
of McLaren's technological know-how and was a supplier of electronlc components and software to Formula
1, NASCAR, IndyCar and Formula E. :

Racing

The Group’s joint venture investment in McLaren Racing was sold by the Group to McLaren Group
Limited, its parent company, in August 2021. Racing participated in motor racing events, primarily Formula-
1 which included the design, development, manufacture and racing of Formula 1 cars.

Business Review

Product line-up

Our vehicles are categorised into four product families, bemg GT, Supercar, Ultimate and Motorsport. Our
2022 product range comprised the following vehicles: .

e GT: GT Coupe
e Supercar: Artura Coupe, 720S Coupe, 720S Spider, 765LT Coupe, 765LT Spider
e Ultimate: AElva

. Motorsport: 720S GTé. 7208 GT3X

In addition to these vehicles, our wholesale volumes in 2022 also include a small number of other models,
including some from the now discontinued Sports series. The current product range is available in all key
markets, except for China in which only the GT is currently sold. The Elva and 765LT are limited edition
models, which are now sold out, and the production run is expected to complete in H1 2023.
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The Artura is McLaren'’s first high performance hybrid supercar to be launched on our new lightweight carbon
vehicle architecture, and forms part of our supercar category. It is a plug-in hybrid, capable of up to 30km
of emission-free driving and is the first application of the new McLaren Carbon Lightweight Architecture. The
powertrain comprises an all-new twin-turbocharged 3.0-litre V6 petrol engine with an E-motor and energy-
dense battery pack and its super-lightweight engineering makes it the lightest in its class. Wholesales of
Artura commenced in H2 2022 — see Market and business developments below.

On 21 June 2022 MclLaren revealed the new Artura GT4 race car. The Artura GT4 shares much of its
technology with the Artura road car, but to meet racing requirements it is not a hybrid and has many bespoke
motorsport components such as its steering wheel, engine control system and braking. An intensive test
and development programme continues ahead of the 2023 season when the fi rst customer cars are -
expected to compete i

On 19 August 2022 we revealed our latest vehicle, the McLaren Solus GT, which has been de5|gned with
a striking central, single-seat, closed-cockpit design with jet aircraft-style sliding canopy. It has a unique
monocoque chassis with motorsport-derived powertrain and weighs less than 1,000kg. The 5.2 litre V10
engine revs to more than 10,000rpm and produces in excess of 840PS and 650Nm, enabling 0-100km/h in
2.8 seconds and a top speed of more than 200mph. The Solus GT is limited to just 25 cars, W|th all 25
already under order and first cars will be delivered to customers in 2023. )

Market and business developments

The market for certain components, including semiconductors, remains challenging across many parts of
the economy. Whilst we have greater confidence in the availability of such components compared to the
start of 2022, availability remains tight and pricing elevated, compared to pre-COVID-19 periods. This
reduced our ability in 2022, especially in H1, to meet orders as quickly we would otherwise expect.

With post-COVID-19 supply chain disruptions alongside other global events (e.g. conflict in Ukraine), we
have seen cost inflation in @ number of areas. There has also been volatility in the foreign exchange market,
especially with-the USD during 2022. We continue to manage such costs through hedging, working closely

with our suppllers and seekmg efficiency savings. . :

The launch of the Artura was initially delayed due to COVID-19 and component shortages and other supply
chain challenges. Wholesales of Arturas commenced in August 2022 however in Q4 2022 certain technical
upgrades were identified to ensure Artura customers enjoy optimum long-term performance. This resulted
in delays to wholesale shipments and customer deliveries reducing the number of Arturas dehvered in 2022.
Production and wholesales of the Artura recommenced in Q1 2023.

- Volumes

Wholesale volumes by region were:

Europe _ 517 - 473 9.3%
North America - ‘947 883 7.2%
Asia Pacific : 384 412 - -6.8%
China 206 240 14.2% -
Restof Word =~ 134 130 3.1%

Global 2,188 2,138 - 2.3%
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Volumes in 2022 have been adversely impacted by industry wide supply chain challenges and delays to the
Artura. However improving component availability saw stronger volumes in the second half of 2022, resulting
in a 2.3% .year-on-year increase in wholesale volumes. Retail volumes for 2022 were 2,038 units (2021:
2,673), slightly below wholesale volumes. This has meant our dealers continue to hold relatively low levels
of stock; in turn maintaining a high level of demand for our vehicles. This strong demand is reflected in our
order book, which was 1,953 vehicles at 31 December 2022 (2021: 1,861). This position reflects continuing
demand for our brand and vehicles, strong interest in the Artura, but partially offset by the fulfilment of orders -
for 7208, 765LT and Elva all of which complete their productions run in H1 2023.

Capital structure

In July 2022 McLaren Group Limited announced that it had received commitments for £125.0m of capital in
the form of convertible preference shares from its shareholders, with an initial £80.0m tranche received at
announcement and the remaining balance of £45.0m received in September 2022. This £125.0m of funds
was invested into the Group as ordinary share capital: Following the equity raise, MclLaren Group Limited

subscribed for ordinary share capital in the Company, resulting in a cash inflow of £125.0m into the Group.

In order to help manage the impact on liquidity of 2022 Artura wholesale delays, the Group completed the
sale of certain heritage cars to its lead shareholder for consideration of £100.0m. Since this time the parent
of the Company, McLaren Group Ltd, has been in active discussions with its key shareholders regarding. a
broader recapitalisation of the McLaren Group to provide additional funding to support its long-term product
investment plan. In March 2023, shareholders of McLaren Group provided £70.0m in additional funding,
and this was invested in the Group as ordinary share capital as part of the ongoing recapitalisation process.

Intangible investment

The -Group continued to invest in the development of new products and services, with intangible capital
expenditure of £164.6m in 2022 (2021: £156.3m). The majority of this was invested in already announced
vehicles such as the Artura and the Solus GT, or the development of future models especially in relatlon to
new Ultimate and Super Series models.

Key performance indicators

The directors consnder the data listed below to be the principal Key Performance Indicators (KPls). These
are used to assess progress towards achieving the Groups strategies over the medium term and
performance against these measures is reviewed regularly.

i) Financial performance indicators

2022 . 2021 Change

KPI £m £m ~ %

Turnover - 627.8 610.4, 2.9%

Adjusted EBITDA (Note 5) (3.0) 1792 -101.7%

Loss before tax - A (274.9) o (67.5) 307.3%

."Cash and cash equivalents - -100.7 76.7 31.3%

Total cash flow 4 230 10.1 127.7%
J

Turnover

e Rationale: The ability to deliver.and grow revenue is an important measure of-a bUsiness’s appeal to
customers and its competitive position in the market in which it operates.
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e Performance: Turnover was up in 2022 due to the'increase in wholesale volumes by 2.3%.
_Adjusted EBITDA / Loss before tax . '

e Rationale: Delivery and growth of EBITDA and profit before tax represent key measures of the Group's
operatlng and overall performance to mvestors and external stakeholders against our strategic priorities.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined. as loss/profit before taxation, adding back interest payable/receivable and
similar charges, depreciation, amortisation and impairment and share in loss of joint venture (see note
5 in financial statements for further information). The .interest added back excludes foreign exchange
gains and losses apart from those resulting from the retranslation of the USD senior secured notes.

e Performance: Despite higher wholesale volumes, EBITDA fell £182.2m having been adversely impacted
in 2022 by Artura delays, supply chain constraints, foreign exchange losses and inflationary pressures,
although the impact of these has been partially offset by the gain on sale of heritage cars. The loss
before tax in 2022 has also been impacted by foreign exchange losses on the retranslatlon of the UsD
notes. o

" " Cash and cash flow

e Rationale: Cash 'orovides a view of the available resources and liquidity of the Group,'whilst the total’
cash flows of the Group provide an assessment of the cash. generatlon of the busmess and its ability to
invest in its future growth / generate shareholder value.

e Performance: Supply chain constraints and delays to the Artura resulted in-an opereting cash outflow
in 2022, whilst investing cash flows reflected continued spend on the product line-up. Theee outflows
were however offset by cash inflows arising on the equity raise and the sale of heritage cars.

i) Non-financial performance indicators

Volumes FY 2022 FY 2021 Change
Units Units %

Production ~ 2496 - 2,183 ' 14.3%

Wholesale S 2,188 . 2,138 2.3%

Retail 2,038 2,673 -23.8%

Productlon and wholesale volumes -
e Rationale: The number of new vehicles manufactured and sold by the Group is a key driver of the
financial performance of the Group-and an indicator of demand.

‘e Performance: Production and wholesele volumes have both sho\wn' a year—on'yeer improvemerit
compared to 2021, despite 2022 continuing to be negatively |mpacted by supply chain constraints and
Artura delays.

Retail volumes :
_e Rationale: Whilst the number of sales made by dealers does not dlrectly |mpact the Group s financials,
it is a key indicator of demand for the Group's. products. . :

e Performance: Retall volumes were down year—on year, held back by wholesale volumes anda relatlvely
limited number of vehlcles on hand in our dealers.

New vehicle development - the success of our programmes is assessed.through our ability to achieve key
milestones in the development cycle to the research and development phases of new car models or variants,
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to the point they are approved to be launched and go into producﬁon Key measures need to be achieved
before the project is passed to proceed to the next key milestone for review.

Employee measures — key to the successful dellvery of our strategic objectives is malntalnmg, developlng
. and motivating our employees. Measures used to assess our-success include the successful recruitment of
high quality people to fill senior vacancies and driving down voluntary attrition across the business.

Group performance review
Overview

Revenue was £627.8m for the year ending 31 December 2022 a period-on-period increase of £17.4m
(2.9%) which was broadly consistent with the 2 .3% increase in wholesale volumes. Despite production
being adversely impacted in 2022 by industry wide supply chain constraints and delays to the Artura, we
were able to increase production volumes by 14.3%. :

. The operating loss for 2022 was £131.3m, compared to a loss in 2021 of £16.9m. However within this
performance are-a number of significant items with 2022 including a £86.5m gain on the sale of heritage

- cars and certain costs associated with the delay to the Artura, whilst 2021 included a £33.1m share of .
Racing’s net-loss, a net gain of £67.7m on the sale and lease back of the Group’s headquarters, a £41.2m _
loss-on the discontinued operations of Applied and a £79.5m gain on sale of McLaren Racing Investment.
The loss before tax has increased in 2022 due to foreign exchange losses arising on the strengthening of
the USD. .

Profit and loss account

2022 2021
‘ . . £m £m
Turnover ‘ ' 627.8 610.4
Cost of Sales : - ' (506.1) = (443.7)
Administrative expenses S ’ . (2052)  (225.1)
Other operating income ~ ~ ' : _ ’ 39.8 36.8 -
Other gains/(losses) f 86.5 1947
Share of loss from joint venture . o . - - . (33.1)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment o (174.1) '(1.56.9)
Operating loss o ‘ . (131.3) (16.9)
Finance costs (net) | : ' (143.6) - . (50.6)
Loss before taxation ' L  (274.9) (67.5)
Tax on loss | , | , (59.8) 61.4
Loss for the financial peried : (334.7) (6.1)

Revenue and cost of sales

Automotive revenue increased £34.1m to £627.8m largely as a result of wholesale volumes being up 2.3%.

This increase in volume reflected strong sales of the limited 765LT and the commencement of sales of
Artura, partly offset by supply chain disruptions affecting the remainder of the models. Performance in 2022
has also seen a stronger USD, which has benefitted sales into the Americas. :
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The 2021 financial year included £16.7m of Applied revenue, with none |n the current year foIIowmg the
disposal of the busmess in August 2021. : o

~ The Group reported cost of sales of £506.1m in 2022 (2021: £443.7m, £429.9m continuing operatlons) with
~ the year-on-year increase reflecting the higher wholesale volumes combined and certain costs associated
with the Artura delay including an inventory provision of £34.2m and- higher costs associated wrth the
implementation of technical upgrades required to the Artura. :

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses were £205.2m, a reduction of £19.9m (£12 8m excluding the impact of
discontinued operations) compared to 2021, reflecting cost reductions across the business and disposal of
the applied business. This reduction was despite the higher rent expense in 2022 following the sale and
leaseback of the Group’s headquarters in 2021 and inflationary pressures. '

" Other operating income

Other operating income increased by £3.0m to £39.8m due to the Group contlnumg to provide certain
services to Applied following its disposal, whilst in 2021 the Applied business formed part of the consolidated
group for most of the reported period.

Other gains and losses ’ ’

Other gains and losses in 2022 reflect the gain of £86.5m (2021 £80.8m) on the sale of heritage. assets,
whilst 2021 included a £67.7m gain on the sale and leaseback of the Group's headquarters loss on disposal
of Applled of £33 3m and garn on disposal of Racmg of £79.5m.

Share of loss of joint ventures
No Share of Racmg results were taken in 2022 following the disposal of the Racing mvestment in 2021 to
the Group’s parent company McLaren Group Limited.

Amortlsat/on depreC/at/on and lmpa/rment

Amortisation increased by £2.1m to £143.2m following a change in the basis of measuring amortisation to
straight-line rather than by reference to vehicle volumes, to better align with others in our rndustry

" Depreciation reduced to £9.8m (2021: £14.5m) due to the sale and leaseback of the Group's headquarters

- in 2021. The Group recognised an impairment charge of £21.1m (2021: £1.3m) relating to product

development spend on certain product attrlbutes which were dlscontmued during the year.

Frnance costs

Net finance costs increased £90 2m to £143 6m compared to £53.4m in 2021 due to 2022 including a
£98.9m foreign exchange loss while 2021 included a loss of £15.4m. The foreign exchange loss in 2022
reflects the strengthening of the USD which has most notably impacted the USD denominated senior

“ secured notes, while 2021 in turn benefitted from a weakening USD. Underlying interest.expense on B

borrowings has remained broadly consistent penod-on period.

Income tax :

‘The Group recognised an income tax charge of £59.8m compared to a £61.4m credit in 2021. Previously
recorded deferred tax assets of £62.3m (2021: nil) were derecognised in the year where taxable profits to
“offset these losses were not probable based on our current business plan.

" Cash flow statement

The Group had a net cash inflow of £23.0m compared to £1 0.1min 2021.

Cash flow from operating activities -

Cash outflows from operating activities were £6.4m compared to £70.8m in the comparatlve perlod being
an improvement of £64.4m. Operating cash outflows before movements in working capital increased by
£75.3m to £80.2m largely for the reasons already described above in relation to the Group’s operating loss.
The working capital inflow of £74.2m reflects lower inventory, higher creditors and an increase in customer

R
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deposnts Thls compared to a worklng capital outflow of £58.9m in. 2021 WhICh had been drlven by the
readiness to launch Artura and the resulting mcrease in inventory., :

Cash flow from investing activities

There was a net cash outflow from investing activities of £69.4m compared to an mﬂow of £1 76.1min 2021.
The current year benefited from net proceeds of £100.0m on the sale of heritage cars.whilst in 2021 vehicle
development costs were offset by proceeds of £167.8m on the sale and leaseback of the Group's
headquarters, receipt of proceeds of £81.8m for its sale of investment in McLaren Racing to McLaren Group
"and proceeds of £93.6m for the sale of herltage assets to McLaren New Co. Underlylng capital expendnture
is broadly flat year-on-year.

Cash ﬂow from financing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities were an |nﬂow of £98.8m, compared to an outflow of £95.2m in
2021.

Financing cash flows in 2022 included £125.0m on the issue of new shares and interest paid of £39.5m. In
2021, financing cash flows comprised £195.7m from the issue of new shares and £436.1m from the new
USD denominated senior secured note. Partially offsetting this was the repayment of bank loans of £68.9m
and the previous senior secured note of £621.2m.

-

Interest pald has in¢reased year on year due to the stronger USD and an increase in interest rates.
Company -performance review ‘ '

The Company’s loss for the year was £149.6m (2021: loss £18.4m) and at 31 December 2022 the Company
had net assets of £483.9m compared to £508.5m at the start of the year. The loss and the reduction in net
assets of the Company reflects a non-cash impairment charge recognised during the year against subsidiary
investments and foreign exchange losses reflecting the strengthening of the USD. During the current
financial year the Company received £125.0m in the form of ordinary shares from its parent, McLaren Group
Limited. :

Principal nsks and uncertainties

The prlnmpal risks and uncertalntles of the Group can be summarlsed as follows:

Risk ' , Mitigation

Macroeconomic

. Events such as a public health crisis (e.g.

COVID-19) or significant market disruption
(e.g. conflict in Ukraine) may adversely impact
the Group, its suppliers, customers and

dealers, and the macroeconomic environment

in which they operate.

Deteriorating economic position of key markets
could adversely affect customer demand,

supplier performance, exchange rates, interest |-

rates, availability and price of financing
facilities etc, which may in turn impact the

~ Group's performance and financial position.

Annual strategic plan and budget, as well as
regular reforecasts taking into account market
trends and the current economic environment.

Regular operational and financial reviews of
the business by seniof management and Board
of Directors.

Monitoring industry trends, engagement with.
other industry participants and advisors.
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Development -

Development of new vehicles requires
significant upfront investment for which there is
no certainty that the programmes will be
delivered on time, profitably, to plan or in a
technologically competitive way.

' progress reporting and oversight.

See below regarding ‘Deménd and Brand’ and
‘Technological.’ '

Programme delivery management and regular

Financial . -

Liquidity risk must be carefully managed to
ensure sufficient funds are available to run the
operations of the business and fund capital
expenditure to develop vehicles for the future.

Movements in foreign exchange may: advérsely

impact the financial results and position of the
Group.

- assessment of available liquidity and potential

. of hedging to have in place to mi'tigate foreign

Cash managed and reported daily, together
with weekly cash / liquidity forecasts.

Annhal.budget and long-term plan processes
alongside regular reforecasts, which include
downside scenarios.

Work closély with advisors to raise additional
funds / liquidity as required. .

Hedging policy in place, which guides the level

exchange risk.

Demand and Brand

Demand for and appeal of the McLaren brand
and -vehicles, is subject to customer
preferences, competitor offerings and industry
trends. :

An inability to ‘maintain the position of the

McLaren brand or develop high quality desired .

vehicles may impair customer perception of the
brand . and - product, adversely
financial performance.

impacting |

alignment across lines of business.

Annual strategic plan which considers the
Group's existing vehicles, product plan, trends, |
customer preferences, competitor products |

and opportunities in the market.

Business case for key projects,” assessed by |-
senior management and Board of Directors.

Quality controls in place, including focus on
‘right first time' to maintain vehicle quality and
ensure delivery to customers at the expected
standard. - B

Careful 'management and cultivation of the
McLaren brand, ensuring cooperation and

Focus on quality and scale of dealer network.

Technological

Changing preferences or regulations, such as

in relation to electric vehicles and connectivity,

may reduce demand for or increase the cost of
developing or manufacturing the Group's
vehicles. '

- Analysis and assessment of which features of

vehicles are developed in-house or obtained
from our high quality supplier base. )

Assessment of strategic  partnership
opportunities with key partners especially with
the industry shift towards hybrid / electric
vehicles over the decade.

10
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e Launched the MclLaren Composites |
Technology Centre (MCTC) in 2018 to be a
world-leader in innovating lightweight carbon
fibre and composites. -

| @ -See above regarding ‘Demand and Brand’ on
' meeting market demands and trends.

‘Supply Chain ‘

e Disruptions to supply chains, unavailability of | ¢ Developed close relationships with suppliers
components (e.g. semiconductors) or a decline and dealerships to ensure proactive
in the quality of goods and services purchased engagement on potential risks and disruptions
may adversely affect operations. (e.g. - COVID-19  and semiconductor

shortages). '

e We rely on our dealer network to provide sales |
and services. We do not own our McLaren | @ Cross functional reviews to identify supply
" dealers and virtually all of our sales are made issues and develop actions to resolve.
through our network of dealerships located
throughout the world. If our dealers are unable
to provide sales or service quality that our
clients expect or do not otherwise adequately | ‘ .
- project the McLaren image and its exclusivity, | ® Application of procurement processes to
the brand may be negatively affected. ~ | ensure selection of suppliers that can meet the
. | " requirements of ‘the Group (e.g. quality,
volume, frequency, price etc).

o Atthe peak of semiconductor shortages, daily
reviews were held with regular reporting to
senior management and the board.

Section 172 Companies Act 2006

This sets out how the Directors comply with the requirements of Section 172 Companies Act 2006 and how
these requirements have impacted the Board's decision making throughout 2022.

“The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 require all companies that meet specified size
" requirements to provide a corporate governance statement. Corporate Governance refers to the way that
the Group is governed as well as the interaction between its managerial bodies, its shareholders and other
stakeholders. The purpose is to adopt appropriate rules and procedures to support and improve the internal
~ controls systems. The Group has always maintained strong governance procedures and welcomes the
opportunity to make a formal disclosure. .

The Group has continued to apply the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies
_ which were issued in December 2018. The disclosures which provude support for how the directors meet
the requirements of Section 172 Companies Act 2006 is included in the Governance Report on pages 17 to
21 and is also available on the Group's website www.mclaren.com.

Section 172 Decisions

a) The likely consequence of any decision in the Iong-term

The Board approves a five year plan annually, or more frequently where the need arises, against which it
monitors both operational and financial performance. The Board has agreed a set of performance indicators
and reviews the Group’s forecast funding requirements, debt capacity and financing options against these.
In approving the strategy, the Directors also consider external factors including the performance of the
“automotive industry together with the global economic and market conditions.

11
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b) The interest of the company’s employees

. The Board understands the importance and benefit of having a broad range of skills, experiences,
perspectives, and backgrounds in our teams and continuously strives to attract, engage, and retain a diverse
range of talented people. '

The Board regularly communicates to its employees through presentations, internal group-wide emails and
. newsletters. The Group’s intranet and structure give our employees the opportunity to interact with members
of the Board and other key management personnel. The individual businesses have annual presentations,
open to all employees, at which ‘the Chief Executives inform and update employees on the Group's
performance, plans and outiook. Employees are encouraged to ask questions about the Group’s purpose,
_goals, and direction.. Employee surveys are undertaken annually to receive feedback about the employee
experience at McLaren, the results of which are carefully analysed and discussed by the Board. Employees
are offered a range of development opportunities including formal programmes, mentoring, coaching, and
e-learning that enable the Board to identify and develop the skills and knowledge it needs to succeed now
and in the future

c) The need to foster the Combany's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others

The Board regularly reviews how the Group maintains positive relationships with all its stakeholders. it
understands the importance of the Group's supply. chain in deIiyering the long-term plans of the Group and
the CEQ's of all businesses bring a wealth of key industry knowledge in their respective fields.

Our.partners play a vital role in our progression and development with the core aim to strive for excellence
together. For example with over 140 years of experience, and a presence in over 160 countries Pirelli is one
of the leading manufacturers of performance tyres, and the perfect partner for McLaren. The bespoke tyres
for the 12C and the McLaren P1™ are the result of.close collaboration between Pirelli's researchers and
McLaren's engineers.at Woking, with the dual objective of harnessing all the power of the car while ensuring
total control. In 2022 as we and our partners have faced constant supply chain pressures, we have worked
even more closely with our suppliers-to understand their requirements and challenges and to put in place
support where required to ensure they are able to deliver the goods and services we need at the quality and
to the timing required by our production processes.

Understanding the needs and aspirations of our customer is critical to the success of the business. The
Group regularly engages with both our global dealer network and the owners of our vehicles for feedback
on our current models and what they would like to see in the future. We also regularly hold events which
allow our customers to test their vehicles or other McLaren’s in different environments and with the support
of experienced drivers. Such events are sometimes run in conjunction with both the Racing and Automotive
" businesses, such as at Formula 1 events, so that our customers can be part of the wider McLaren brand
and experience.

The Group's principal risks and uncertainties set out risks that can impact the long-term success of the
Group and how these risks interact with our stakeholders. The Directors actively seek information on the
interaction with stakeholders to ensure that they have enough information to reach appropriate conclusions
about the risks faced by the Group and how these are reflected within the Iong-term plans.

d) The impact of the company ’s operations on the community and environment

, McLaren is committed to implementing the recommendations of the Task Force on Cllmate related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD) across.the Group, where appropriate. Further information on the Group’s initiative and
commitment to the environment and society can be found on the Directors' Report on page 22.

McLaren supports communities in several ways and aims to make a positive contribution to improving
people's life chances, especially those of young people. Developing the next generation of automotive

12
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expertise is vitally important to McLaren. As the Group continues to grow, the need for a skilled workforce
to design, develop, build and sell its cars is also expanding. McLaren partners with various organisations
and charities and has likewise worked with the BBC on educational science programming for primary school
age groups and above. The Group contlnually strives to improve, innovate and contribute towards a better
future. .

e The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct’

The Directors take the reputation of the Group seriously which is not limited to only operational and financial
performance. The Board follows and approves a suite of controls that include adherence to anti-corruption,
bribery, anti-slavery and dealing code. The Board has committed to having a workforce that reflects the
wider society. It has considered the data, and narrative, relevant to the Group’s Gender Pay Reporting in
preparation for external publication, including proposed improvement plans to enhance performance.

f) The need to act fairly as between members of the company

McLaren is celebrating its 60" birthday in 2023 and remains privately owned. The Group is supported by its
shareholders and providers of debt funding in providing the capital to further its business objectives. They
rely on the Board to protect and manage their investment in a responsible and sustainable way that .
generates value for them. The Group holds quarterly meetings for all investors to join at which the Group
Executives present the current financial and operational results. Investors are invited to ask questions and.
seek clarification from the Executive. The Group interfaces with the shareholders on a regular basis through
corporate events and the Group Board meetings, which contains independent non-executtves alongside the -
executive-directors.

Dire_ctors

There were 4 directors during the year of which three were male and one was female. The Company had
no employees in the year, as all directors were employed by another related company.

Signed by ordér of the Board -

C Ferry
Director
17 May 2023

Registered Office:
McLaren Technology Centre
Chertsey Road

Woking

Surrey GU21 4YH
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The Directors’ present their Annual Report and the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group
and Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. - ‘

Future developments and post balance sheet events

On 14 March 2023 the Group confirmed that shareholders of Mcl.aren Group Limited had provided £70.0m
in additional funding, as part of an ongoing recapitalisation process. This £70.0m of funds was invested into
the Group as ordinary share capital. A broader recapitalisation involving the Group's existing shareholders
to fully fund McLaren's product development strategy was noted as being subject to ongoing shareholder
discussion with further updates on this process to be provided in due course.

~ The UK government has announced its lntentlon to end the sale of new petrol and diesel vehicles by 2030, -
with some limited exceptions. The Artura represents a best-in-class, next generatlon hybrid supercar for
which we are seeing very strong demand and we expect to sell throughout the decade. We continue to
assess the availability of suitable technology to enable us to deliver an all-electric vehicle that meets
McLaren'’s needs and standards, and gives customers the ultimate driving experlence

Other future developments and important events affectlng the Group since the year end are explalned in
the Strategic report on pages 3to13.

Research and development

By the nature of its activities, the Group has an ongoing investment into research and development across
all its motoring and engineering operations, which includes new car programmes and specnallst products
‘and services to maximise the performance and capabllltles of its customers.

Existence of branches outsnde of the UK

The Group has branches, as defined in section 1046(3) of the Companies Act 2006 outside of the UK, in
Bahrain, Spain and Japan. ’

Going concern

In July 2022 the Group received £125.0m of capital in the form of ordinary shares from its parent, McLaren
Group Limited, with an initial £80.0m tranche received in July and the remaining balance of £45.0m in
September 2022. In November 2022 the Group announced that it had identified certain technical upgrades
that were required to ensure Artura customers enjoy optimum long-term performance. These upgrades
~ resulted in delays to wholesale shipments and customer deliveries which had an associated impact on the
Group'’s revenue and liquidity. In order to help manage through this issue, the Group completed the sale of
certain heritage cars to its lead shareholder for consideration of £100.0m.

On 14 March 2023 the Group confirmed that shareholders of McLaren Group Limited had provided £70.0m
in additional funding, as part of an ongoing recapitalisation process. This £70.0m of funds was invested into -
the Group as ordinary share capital. A broader recapitalisation involving the.Group’s existing shareholders
to fully fund McLaren’s product development strategy was noted as being subject to ongomg shareholder
discussion with further updates on this process to be provided in due course.

The Group has recently completed its annual budget and long-term plan, which have been approved by the
Board and these have been used to carry out an assessment of the ability of the Group to fund its plans for
a period of at least 12 months from the issuance of these financial statements. These cash flow forecasts
have considered typical cash cycles, expected operational milestones (e.g. product launches), the level of
future product investment, timings of cash inflows and outflows and the impact of these on available liquidity
.and- covenant requirements. The Group has also taken into account severe but plausible downside
scenarios arising from the principal risks and uncertainties, especially those whlch have the potential to
have the greatest lmpact for the period under assessment
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The Board remains positive of the future direction and long-term product plan of the business, but likewise
" recognises risks to performance such as supply chain constraints, required spend on development
programmes and possible delays to the launch of new vehicles. The Board recognises that additional )
funding is needed to fund the future plans of the business and in order to meet liabilities as and when they
_fall due in the period of 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. As noted above
the broader recapitalisation is subject to ongoing shareholder discussion and as such this funding is not
secured at this time. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
over the Group’s and the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. These financial statements do
not include any adjustments that would arise if the Group and the Company were unable to continue as a
going concern. :

Financial risk management objectwes and policies

The Group's activities expose it to a number of financial risks including foreign exchange risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and prlce risk.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to currency exchange rate risk due to a significant proportion of its
revenuéfreceivables and cost of sales being denominated in non-Sterling currencies. The Group uses a
mixture of foreign exchange forward and option contracts to hedge this exposure based on forecast cash
inflows and outflows over a 24-month period.

The Group aims to reduce the magnitude of foreign currency exposures operatlonally offset the lmpact of
foreign currency volatility and ultimately use its hedging strategies to smooth the profit and cash effects of
foreign currency. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group's policies approved by the Board
of Directors, which provide written principles on the use of fi nancial derivatives to manage these risks. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculatlve purposes.

Credit risk
The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and trade-and other receivables.

The Group's receivables are at risk to the extent that a customer may be unable to pay the debt as it is due.
The risk is mitigated by the strong on-going customer relationships with a dealership network carefully
_selected by McLaren. The credit risk on cash, liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited
_because the counterpartres are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international, credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
‘counterparties and customers. In addition, many Automotive customers have supplied bank guarantees.

Liquidity risk

In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future
developments, the Group uses a mixture of long term and short-term deposit and funding facilities available
to it, including revolving credit facilities, liquid funds, trade finance and other working capital facilities. As the
Group approaches the maturity of its borrowing facilities it will look to refinance these in the capital markets
via a mix of bank lending and capltal markets issuance (Senior Secured Notes) providing additional funding
required for the Group’s strategic plans. Cash and liquidity deposits are currently placed with counterpartres
that have minimum investment grade credit ratlngs of BBB- or higher.

More detail is included in the Strateglc report on pages 3 to 13, and the section on Gomg concern on page
14, :
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Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its purchases from suppliers, especially where parts are exposed
to changes in commaodity prices (e.g. metal prices), or in relation to utility pricing (e.g. electricity). The Group
does manage price fluctuations through hedging prices of specific purchases (utilities) but the pricing of
many other parts are not actively hedged. The sales price of the Group’s vehicles are based on a number
of factors including cost of development and build as .well the relative pricing and features of competitors’
vehicles. Price risk due to foreign currency movements is managed through hedging as described above.

The luxury performance car market js generally affected by global macroeconomic conditions and many
" factors affect the level of cbnsumer_spending in the luxury performance car industry, including the state of

the economy as a whole, stock market performance, interest and exchange rates, inflation, political
- uncertainty, the availability of consumer credit, tax rates unemployment levels and other matters that
- influence consumer confidence.

Our sales have hlstoncal,ly been comparatively resilientin periods of economic turmoil. Sales of luxury goods
tend to decline during recessionary periods when the level of disposable.income tends to be lower or when
- consumer confidence is low. Significant inflationary pressures appeared in 2021 in many of the markets in
which we operate and this trend has continued to worsen throughout 2022,

Heritage Assets

Over the last 50 years the Group has established a large collection of heritage race cars and other vehicles
which chronicle our racing heritage and. have\been used to serve as promotional vehicles for the brand
.. within the McLaren Technology Centre (MTC) and also at museums, retailers and heritage track days -
around the world. :

As at 31 December 2022 the 'collectlon numbered some 18 vehicles which were held at a cost of £9.4m.
There is a market for these assets; and the Group may determine as appropnate to sell a specific and limited

* - number of these cars to spemallst collectors from around the world.

As noted in the Strategic Report the Groups completed the sale of certain heritage cars to its lead

~ - shareholder for consideration of £100.0m in 2022,

D|V|dends
The Directors do not propose a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 Enll)
Directors

The Directors of the Company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial
statements were:

Z Brown

P S Walsh

C Ferry

~ M Leiters — appointed 01.07.22

Directors’ indemnities ) ‘ A e

As permitted by the Articies of Aseocietion, the Directors have the benefit of an indemnity whieh isa

qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The
indemnity was in force throughout the last financial year and is currently in force. The Company also
purchased and maintained throughout the financial year Dlrectors and Officers’ Ilablllty insurance in respect
of itself and its Directors. :
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Political donations.

No political donations were made during the current or previous year. We do.not support any political party,
and do not partake in any activity that could be mterpreted as mutual dependence / favour with any polltlcal
body or person.

Disabled employees

The policy of the Company and its subsidiaries is to give full and fair consideration to employment
applications by disabled persons and to ensure that disabled employees receive appropriate training and
career development opportunities. Employees who become disabled during their working life will be retained

,ln employment wherever possible, with appropriate retraining being given if necessary. ’

Employee engagement

The Group is committed to ensuring that its people are actively engaged in the ongoing management and
future direction of the business. Employee involvement is encouraged, as achieving a common awareness
on the part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the group plays a major role in
maintaining its ongoing success. Regular formal, and informal, briefings are held with all sections of the
workforce.

Statement of engagement with suppllers, customers and others in a busmess relationship with the
.company .

Please refer to the statement of corporate governance arrangements — prmmple 6 Stakeholders for further
details.

Statement of corporate.governanee arrangements

Corporate governance refers to the way that the Group is governed as well as the interaction between its

"managerial bodies, its shareholders and other stakeholders. The purpose is to adopt appropriate rules and
procedures to support and improve the internal controls systems. The Group has always maintained strong
governance procedures and welcomes the opportunity to make a formal disclosure.

The Group applies the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies. They provide
a framework for the Group to demonstrate how the Board makes decisions for the long-term success of its
stakeholders together with a disclosure as to how they ensure compliance with the requwements of Section
172 of the Companles Act 2016

Principle 1 - Purpose and leadership

McLaren was founded by Bruce McLaren and his ethos still permeates the organisation today. Bruce worked
his way up through club races in and around his native Auckland, New Zealand, and won his first grand prix
at just 22. The youngest-ever winner at the time, he had the mind of an engineer and formed a racing team
in 1963 to build his own cars. Years later, we have won 20 Formula 1 World Championships (12 driver and -

8 constructor championships) and established our luxury road car division where his spirit continues to. -

inspire every car that we build today. Thriving in the summit of the luxury automotive and motorsport world _
has bred a spirit of dedication. Our people maintain that commitment, courage and creativity throughout the
business in the unremitting search for excellence. .

- Mclaren exists to continually push the boundaries, and it is this philosophy that has driven the company to
its current position as one of the world’s most illustrious luxury automotive, motorsports and technology.
brands. " In Formula 1, if you're not innovating you’re going backwards, and MclLaren’s leadership is
constantly thinking of ways to improve performance for all our stakeholders.

We do everything for a reason; before we embark on any activity, we must know why we are doing it and
then be able to measure its impact and evaluate its success.
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If we can't measure something, we don’t know if we have improved. We do not compromise. The Group
operates in the area of Automotive, and perpetuates stakeholder engagement through a formal shareholder
agreement. Through concurrent meetings of the operating companies’ management with the Board, this
achieves a consistent approach and governance. :

We support the communities we are part of and aim to make a positive contribution to improving people’s
life chances, especially those of young people. The Group is committed to investing in its charities.
Automotive’s global charity partner is children’s charity Plan International. Plan International and MclLaren
Automotive together pledge to support, empower, and inspire the next generation to reach their full potential.
The partnership brings together Automotive's'long-standing commitment to inspire and encourage young
-people to take up careers in science, technology, engineering, and maths (STEM), with Plan International’s-
- track record of challenging gender stereotypes to support girls globally to stay in school and open
opportunities to pursue fulfilling careers.

We understand the importance and benefit of having a broad range of skills, experiences, perspectives and
backgrounds in our teams and that is why we continuously strive to attract, engage and retain a diverse
range of talented people across our companies. Our purpose is communicated to the people through the
intranet, weekly updates and regular Town Hall-style briefings led by the CEOs and Executive Directors.
To sustain our high level of engagement we regularly conduct surveys to understand employee insights to
better appreciate what our people value most about working at McLaren. We also offer a range of
development opportunities, including formal programmes, mentoring, coaching and e-learning that enable
us to identify and develop the skills and knowledge we need to succeed now and in the future.

Principle 2 - Board composition

The Board includes an Executive Chairman whose role is to maintain a strong link between the Group Board
of Directors and the Executive Management and ensure that responsibilities, accountabilities and decision
making across the Group are sustained.

The Board of McLaren Holdings Limited reflects the interest and ambitions of our stakeholders and
_ introduces perspectives originating in businesses outside those in which the Group operates. The Board
supervises the work of the Executive Managernent and is responsible for challenging performance and
agreeing strategic direction, while the Executive Management drives the operations and management of the
business. We believe that the size and composition of our Board is appropriate for the scale ot the Group.

Each of our operating entities has a Chief Executive Officer with skills that complement the activities of that
business. They come together at regular intervals to ensure that our values, approach and decision making
across the Group is consistent and sustained. The Group beliéves that the size and composmon of the
Boards with their breadth of experience is appropriate to our business.

The McLaren Group Remuneration and Nomination Committee has a planned Board Effectlveness review
as part of thelr remit. :

Principle 3 — Director responsibilities

The Board has always maintained strong levels of corporate governance in the form of regular Board
meetings of the Company where the Board actively engages with the ‘process. As noted above each
operating company has an Executive who makes key decisions with the advice of his management team
and advisors using his specific industry experience. The roles of the directors are clearly established, and
each has a clear understanding of his accountability and responsibilities.

The Group.Board has a formalised programme of meetings that is established at the start of each year and
allows for time with each Executive and his team to understand the decisions made and devote the
‘necessary time to strategic planning.
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The Directors are subject to a formal Dealing Policy that ensores that they do not abuse, and do not place
themselves under suspicion of abusing, inside information. The Company Secretary is responsible for
ensuring that annually the Directors disclose that they do not have any conflicts of interest. .

The successful delivery of the long-term. plans relies on key inputs and positive relationships with a wide
range of stakeholders and so the Board approves an updated five year strategic plan on an annual basis.
" The Board receives regular data on the main business activities for each of the Group Companies in respect
of financial matters, risks and opportunities and operational matters. During the year the Board continued
its focus on cash management and regularly reviews the Group's cash flows, and overall financial resilience
of the Group. The information is collated by the Group’s finance team who are recruited with the skills and
- expertise to safeguard the quality of the data produced. "

The McLaren Group has operated an outsourced internal audit function since the start of 2021, reporting to
McLaren Group's Audit and Risk Committee. The Audit team has a defined annual programme of work and
reports against this to the Committee on a quarterly basis. In the event that they became aware of a specific
matter the Internal Auditor has direct access to the Committee Chair. To support good governance the Audit
Commlttee regularly reviews the relationship with the external auditors.

: APrrnclpIe 4 — - Opportunity and risk

The Executive Management (as. delegated by the Board) has responsibility for maintaining sufficient and
effective internal controls and risk management systems in relation to financial reportlng is secured. by
Executive management. . - . .

The Group has systems and controls in place that manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
its annual plan. The Group has in place a.formal process for risk management including the maintenance
of division and group wide risk registers. The output provides reasonable but not an absolute assurance
against a risk materialising. Once the risks are analysed based on likelihood and impact of occurrence they
are considered by senior management with deep dives into the key and recurring items as appropriate.
Similarly, data collection allows focus on the ‘changes to those measures over time.

Once considered by the Executive the risk register is presented to the McLaren Group Audit and Risk
Committee and the Group Board. Any points raised by the Board are discussed in subsequent management
meetings.

The risk-management process is broken into six key stages. This process complements the various risk

management processes around the Group and aims to ensure that McLaren effectively identifies, manages

and reports on risk across the organisation. All McLaren employees have a responsibility for the
management of risk. The Group promotes a culture of risk awareness and as such all employees should

have the ability to identify key risks. The risks themselves remain the responsibility of the relevant process’
owner. The McLaren processes focuses on net risk.

~ The six steps to determine this measure and related actions are as follows: -

1. Risk |dent|f|cat|on To gain a fuli understandlng of any risk that McLaren faces which might create, '
prevent, accelerate or delay the Group’s achievements;

2.. Current control identification: To establish whether our existing controls envrronment adequately
mitigates the risk; :

3. . Prioritising risks: To rank risks in order of their potential impact and likelihood of occurring;

4, Risk response planning: Proactive management of those risks which are at an unacceptably high Ievel
and which require additional treatment; )

5. Risk reporting: To inform decisions end ensure that McLaren's risk profile is adequately managed; and
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6. Monitor and review: To ensure that the planned risk response actlons are put into place and continue
to be effective.

McLaren Group Limited has 'an Audit and Risk Committee comprised of four Non- Executive Directors to
ensure that the interests of shareholders across the group are properly protected in relation to financial
reporting and internal control. :

The Committee has clearly defined terms of reference. Specific responsibilities include reviewing and
recommending for approval the annual financial statements, reviewing the Group's-accounting policies, the
performance of the internal audit function and reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls and risk. ‘

The Audit and Risk Committee assesses the effectlveness of the external audltor s performance every
year after completion of the anriual audlt .

Principle 5§ - Remuneration

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s primary objective is to establish that remuneration is
established in such a way that the Group secures and retains quality senior management who can deliver
the Group's strategy in a manner consistent with both its purpose and the interests of its shareholders. The
Committee has clearly defined terms of reference and is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board concerning the Group’s remuneration strategy and recruitment framework. Remuneration is aligned
to the Group’s divisional performance targets The dlrectors remuneratlon is disclosed |n the Group and
subsidiary financial statements.

The Group annually reports its Gender Pay Report. We are confident that men and women are paid equally
for doing equivalent jobs. McLaren operates in the innovation, manufacturing, engineering and motorsports
industries which all have historically higher proportions of male employees. Our gender pay gap is driven
by the high proportion of men we employ within our business — within our most senior roles — coupled with
the relative scarcity of women within our sector’s talent pipelines. Each division has developed its own action
plans to address any gender pay gaps but also pool resources and share best practlce across the Group-
where approprlate ‘

«Prlnclple 6— Stakeholders

The Board supports good governance practuces W|th|n our businesses to dellver our Busmess Plan and to
protect the Group's brand, reputation and dealings with all our stakeholders including, but not limited to, our

" shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, Government bodies and the local communities in which we
work. The Board approves ‘an annually updated Business Plan that aligns the Group's strategy with the -
shareholders’ long-term objectives for sustainability and growth.

The Board is committed to social respon5|b|I|ty community engagement and envuronmental sustainability. -
The Group has a sustainable business strategy with mature and well- designed sites and processes, a suite
of measures, external accreditations and a number of environmental awards. Measuring and managing our
environmental impact is essential for the financial sustainability of our supply chain and business. We are
committed to winning races and Champlonshlps and minimising our environmental rmpact across the full
range of our operations. . :

We are also workmg to extend environmental standards through our supply chain. McLaren assigns key
individuals with the responsibility for implementation and provides the necessary management support and
resources to enable these individuals to carry out their role. We encourage employee contributions, views,
. involvement and dialogue in all environmental matters. We will provide suitable training and support to all’
employees in relation to this policy, giving them ownership and prlde in achlevmg our objectives and goals
' and recognising contnbutlon as part of a fulfilling career at MclLaren. :
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The Board promotes transparency in the Group’s dealing with external stakeholders and representatives of
" government.-We engage with governments, regulators, industry bodies and our stakeholder community in
a constructive manner.to promote good governance. We also ensure we act in accordance with the
. governance systems of the countries we operate in. Automotive customers expect the service from a
supercar company that is met by a dedicated retailer network, after sales events and on-going customer
satlsfactlon engagement. _ ' :

Together with the Executive Committee, the Board has overseen several initiatives to improve employee
relations by encouraging more flexible working practices, providing benefits that our relevant to our
employees and updating the Group s mtranet platform to share information, best practice, achlevements
and success:

In addition to regular town hall briefings, half-yearly employee briefings delivered by senior management
and recorded for delivery to all employees provides an awareness of the Group’s performance and allows
individuals to raise questions and concerns. The Group has expanded its electronic communications and
updates to ensure that employees are fully engaged in the Group’s status and development. The Executive
is aware of the results which are used to assess and react to workforce issues including corporate culture,
employee engagement and satisfaction.

The Group operates a deﬁned contribution scheme in conjunctic;n with advisors who are independent of the
Group. The Pensions Committee meets regularly to ensure that the decisions made in relation to the
Scheme reflect the interest of all stakeholders.

The Group has a formal whistleblowing policy to support any employee who wishes to report any concern
that they have while remaining anonymous.

Climate, environment and sustainability

The Group recognises its responsibility to comply with relevant environmental and climate obligations and
" to consider and address the impact of our business activities on the environment and the likely consequence
of business decisions in the long-term.

The Board of Directors review the resilience of the business model and asset Eésilience assumptions in the
presence of risks and uncertainties of climate change but consider no adjustments necessary. The Group
also realises the opportunltles to identify and drive further financial savings and lower climate impact where
appropriate.

In 2019 the Board of Directors reviewed and agreed a sustainability framework and governance process
based on the relevant aspects of the United’ Nations 17 Sustainable Development Goals.
This consists of: ' :

a. A sustainable business strategy;

b. A sustainable environmental impact strategy;

c. Environmental compliance and measures; and
d. A sustainable culture and organisational strategy

to which we remain committed and compliant.

In October 2021 the Financial Stability Board’s Task Force for Climate-related Financial Disclosures
published an updated report recommending that climate-related risks and opportunities should be
- incorporated into companies’ risk management and strategic planning processes. The task force also
recommended that these risks and opportunities should be quantified and reported on. Whilst recognising.
that the Group currently builds and races vehicles that run on fossil fuels, the Group has a policy of '
sustainability and reducing its-direct carbon emissions. Progress towards this target is recorded in the
‘Streamlined energy and carbon report’ (SECR), below. The Group has achieved certification from the
Carbon Trust for energy and carbon management methodology. The Audit and Risk Committee has been
presented with a strategy to consider governance, strategy, risk, and metrics. During 2022 the Group
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continued to embed sustainability throughout all employee roles and as work progresses in this area,
information will continue to be disclosed within the SECR and in the strategic report.

Environmental policy

. We recognise that we are operating in a world where many natural resources that our business relies on,
- such as fossil fuels, raw materials and water, are limited. Measuring and managing our environmental impact
_is not only |mportant for the planet, but also essential for the financial sustamablllty of our supply chain and
: busmess :

Our environmental 'policy outlines our commitment to protect against the long-term critical depletion of
natural resources and lasting damage to species, habitats, biodiversity and climate. Of part:cular focus is
our commitment to: -

e Manage our energy consumption and CO2 emissions,

e Establish effective resource utilisation,

e Manage waste and recycling practices,

e Maintain control over our transport and logistics operations: -
Objectives A

As part of our drive and ambition for professionalism in all areas of our work, the environmental commitments
sit integrated with many aspects.of our day-to-day work and specifically alonQS|de our prlme commitment to
health and safety. ‘

This environmental policy statement commits the MclLaren Group of companies to:

e Preventing and reducing pollutlon including a-reduction in CO: emissions of 2.5% year on year,
and zero waste to landfill.
e Fulfilling all applicable regulatory and other obligations in terms of environmental protection as our
bare minimum level of performance.
e Compliance with all permits issued under Local Authority Pollution Prevention and Control
~ legislation.

. » Encouraging employee contnbutlons views, involvement and dialogue in all environmental matters
We will provide suitable tralnmg and support to all employees in relation to this policy, giving them’
ownership and pride in achieving our objectives and goals and recognising contribution as part of a
fulfilling career at McLaren.

e Ensuring that stakeholders in our business are aware of our Envnronmental Pollcy and that the policy
and standards are promoted to our suppliers, partners and customers, encouraglng others to
" implement environmental management measures in their own businesses.
e Embedding the principles of ‘best performance’ (health and safety, quality and environmental
- concerns) to our design, development, manufacturlng and operatlonal processes at MTC, track side
and in transport logistics.
e Manage water in a way that conserves this scarce resource by mlnlmlsmg unnecessary water
consumption.
e Periodically. evaluate our activities to |dent|fy 5|gn|f icant environmental concerns and put in place
management action plans
e Develop sustainable procurement policies and standards for our suppliers, frarichisees and
licensees and collaborate with them to identify opportunities for sustainable practices across
. materials, packaging, logistics and supply chain models."
e Manage our land holdings to promote biodiversity and conserve the natural enwronment

Risk is assessed in ter,ms of the impact of climate change on the business, and conversely the direct and
indirect impact of the business on climate and the environment. The significant risks ‘associated with the
impact of climate change on the business are assessed as:
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() -

(i)

(i)

The reputational risk from stakeholders both internal and: external to the business as a result of
being perceived to be anything other than proactive, compliant and evidence based in regards any
climate or environmental consideration.

r

- The work we do in this area is not undertaken in isolation and we work with our blue-chip commercial
partners sharing best practice and concentratmg efforts where possible for greaterimpact.

The external accredltatlon and evndence based commitment to cllmate and environment issues is
supported by renewed certification from The Carbon Trust. The process of certification measures
absolute footprint and carbon intensity reduction in tonnes of CO2 and includes a qualitative
assessment of environmental management including waste as well as scoring the business on a
benchmark with industry peers The boundary defined for certification is for all McLaren's UK

operations which covers”our principal engineering, manufacturing and commercial activities.

together with all international travel and freight.

The revenue risk associated with a global shift away from dependence on fossil fuels to sustainable
and renewable energy sources. .

The global trend to sustainable and renewable energy sources, supported by international
regulatory requirements directly impacts automotive vehicle product certification directly for vehicle
emissions and power train technology and indirectly for required capital investment in associated
technology and capability. The Group welcomes these macro trends and our business plans and
product strategy reflects the developing requirements. McLaren Automotive continuously monitors
the impact of climate change policies on vehicle regulations globally, and actively contributes to
ongoing Government discussions particularly within the UK, EU and more specifically for our
segment in the US and China. : '

We welcome and support the ambition to end the sale of diesel and petrol vehicles globally and are
actively looking at and considering the technology approach for our products including our
pioneering McLaren Carbon Lightweight Architecture. Our fleet will be hybrid by 2026, with
ambitions for a fully electric car by the end of the decade.

Infrastructure resilience risk in our engineering and manufactunng support systems such as IT
server rooms, buﬂdlng control systems, as a result of the rising temperature and associated flood
risks.

The ‘McLaren Technology Centre and MclLaren Production Centres were developed with
sustainability and biodiversity in mind and maintained and developed to a high standard. Over the
20 years since the construction of the McLaren Technology Centre, what were once considered
one-in-twenty-year climate events are assessed to have increased in likelihood. We monitor these
risks, ensure we have suitable insurance arrangements in place and build into our financial plans
any expenditure to manage and mitigate risks as necessary We do not consider any other assets
as at risk.

The significant risks associated with the business impact on climate and the environment are assessed

as:

Iy

Reputatlonal risk from harm to the environment elther from excessive or uncontrolled waste

management to land, water or air.
Specialist environmental management teams have been working across the business for many .

years ensuring that we publicly state and comply with our envnronmental policy and targets
including: .

a) Prevent and reduce pollution including CO2 emissions of 2.5% year dn year.
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b) Maintain our commitment to zero waste to landfill. This was initially achieved in 2016, and still
is in 2022. We continue to make significant progress in recycling and the management of
plastics to protect land and water. We have also implemented controlled waste streamlng
processes resulting in greater amounts of waste to energy recovery.

c) AFquI all regulatory requirements and obligations to environmental protection as a minimum.

‘d) Comply with all permlts issued under local authonty pollution, prevention and control
"~ legislation. - »

e) Encourage employee contribution in environmental matters lncludmg trammg and support to
‘relevant employees giving them ownership and pride in achieving our objectlves

2. - Reputational and revenue risk from potential product non-compliance in rapldly changlng global
. vehicle emlssmns regulations in our automotive business.

Specialist engineering teams with management oversight ensure product compllance is managed
rigorously via the gateway engineering, development and validation processes. The Group also
plays a proactive role on industry bodies consulting on evolving emissions regulations.

In addition to the specialist environmental management teams the Group has strengthened its risk
management processes and governance by implementing a board level Audit and Risk Committee
to oversee these and other material business risks.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (‘SECR’)

The companies included in these group financial statements are part of the consolidated financial
statements prepared by another UK incorporated company, McLaren Group Limited. The annual report and
financial statements of McLaren Group Limited include the disclosures required under the Streamlined
energy and carbon reporting regulations on a group wide basis and accordingly, separate dlsclosures have
not been made in these financial statements. .

Statement of dlrectors responsibilities in respect of the financial statements A

The Dlrectors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and Consolldated Financial- Statements in -
accordance with applicable law and regulation. Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the Group and Company
fi nancual statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally. Accepted Accounting Practice (United
, ngdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 "The Fmancual Reportlng Standard applicable in the
UK and Republlc of ireland”, and appllcable law).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the ﬂnancial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group and profit or loss of
+ the Group for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to: ’

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it |s mappropnate to presume
" that the company and the Group will continue in business. :

The directors are responS|bIe for safeguardlng the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group’s and Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the -
financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006. »

Directors’ confirmations »
Each of the persono who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

e so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit mformatlon of which the Group s and
Company's auditors are unaware; and .

¢ they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's and Company s auditors are
aware of that information.

Independent auditors ‘ '

The audltors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office. A
resolutlon that they be reappointed will be proposed at the annual general meeting. -

" The financial statements on pages 33 to 77 were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 May 2023 A

and signed by order of the Board.

C Ferry
Director -
17 May 2023

Registered office:

McLaren Technology Centre
Chertsey Road

Woking

Surrey

GU21 4YH
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' Independent auditors’ report to the members of McLaren
Holdlngs Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion -

In our opinion, McLaren Holdings Limited's group financial statements and company fi fnancnal statements
(the “financial statements”):

e give atrue and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company 's affairs as at 31 December 2022
and of the group’s loss and the group's cash flows for the year then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accountlng
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and -

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Consolidated Fmancral
Statements (the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the Consolidated and Company balance sheets as at
" 31 December 2022; the Consolidated profit and loss account, the Consolidated statement of comprehensuve
income, the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity and the Consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements which include a description of
the significant accountlng poI|C|es

Basis for opinion
" We conducted our audit in accordance with Internatlonal Standards on Audltlng (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and
" applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence r

We remained-independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audlt of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled
- our other ethlcal responsibilities in accordance wuth these reqmrements

Material uncertainty related to going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy
of the disclosure made in note 3b to the financial statements concerning the group’s and the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Due'to delays to wholesale shipments and customer deliveries which
has had an associated impact on the group’s revenue and liquidity as well as risks to future performance
from supply chain constraints, investment required for development programmes and possible delays to the
launch of new vehicles, the group and company will require additional funding in order to be able to meet
their liabilities as they fall due in the period of 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements.
This additional funding has not yet been secured. These conditions, along with the other matters explained
in note 3b to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the group’s and the company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial
statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the group and the company were unable to -

" continue'as a gomg concern.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the- going concern basus of
accountlng in the preparation of the financial statements is. approprlate

Our evaluatlon of the directors’ assessment of the groups and the company s ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting included:
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e considering the extent to which the group’s and company’s future cash flows might be adversely affected
by delays to wholesale shipments, customer deliveries and supply chain constraints;
e reviewing management'’s cash flow forecasts, assessing the existihg sources of finance and con5|der|ng
the overall impact on liquidity; and.
‘e considering the adequacy of the disclosures in the fi nancial statements particularly Note 3b, Summary
of significant accounting policies - going concern.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the dlrectors with respect to going concern are described in
the relevant sections of this report..

Our audit approach
Overview

Audit scope

. FuIl scope audits of McLaren Automotive Limited, McLaren Automotlve Incorporated and McLaren
Automotive Asia Pte Limited.

.o Audit of certain financial statement line items of McLaren ‘Holdings Limited, McLaren Flnance Plc,
McLaren Services Limited and McLaren Support Services Limited in the UK.

Key audit matters.

e Material uncertainty related to going concern (group and company)
e Capitalisation of development costs (group)
« Assessment of investments and certain long lived assets for impairment (group and company)

Materiality

¢ Overall group materiality: £6.3M (2021: £5.9M) based on 1% of revenue from continuing operations.

¢ Overall company materiality: £14.7M (2021: £12.6M) based on 1% of total assets but restricted to group
materiality allocation.

. Performance materiality: £4.7M (2021: £4 5M) (group) and £11.0M (2021: £9 5M) (company).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determlned materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the financial statements.

Key audit matters . ‘

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professronal judgement, were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; -
and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the
results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our oplnlon thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. .

In addition to going concern, described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section above,
we determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
‘This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

The assessment of investments and certain long lived assets for impairment (group and company) is a
new key audit matter this year. Accounting for sale and leaseback (group), which was a key audit matter
last year, is no longer included because. of the reduced relevance of this transaction on the group's
financial position as at 31 December 2022 and performance for the year ended on that date Otherwise,
the key audit matters below are consistent with last year. :
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Capitalisation of development costs (groub)

As disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, the group had £803.0M of capitalised new
production development costs as at 31 December 2022°
(£785.8M as at 31 December 2021).

There is judgement involved in determining whether or not
such development costs meet the relevant criteria for '
capitalisation under FRS 102 and this increases the risk of
error or misstatement.

Our procedures included the following:

¢  Reviewing and testing management's
capitalisation criteria for development costs
on new and ongoing programmes, including
feasibility studies for new projects and
business plans for new and ongoing
projects, against the reqmrements of FRS
102;

. Understanding and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of
management’s review and approval of
project related vendor costs; '

» Verifying the existence and accuracy of
capitalised project costs by substantively
testing a sample of costs capitalised in the
year back to supporting documentation and
confirming that they met the criteria for
capitalisation; and

¢ Assessing the overall appropriateness of
salary costs capitalised by comparing these
to budgets.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no
material issues from our work.

Assessment of investments and certain long lived. assets for
impairment (group and company)

As disclosed in the company balance sheet, the company had
investments in subsidiaries totalling £177.4M as at 31
December 2022. This primarily consisted of direct ownership
of the McLaren Automotive Limited sub-group, the McLaren
Services Limited sub-group and McLaren Finance Plc.

-~

In addition, as per the consolidated balance sheet, the
carrying value of the group’s fi xed assets at 31 December
2022 was £895.9M.

During the year, management assessed these assets for
impairment and, as part of the process, calculated the
recoverable amounts of these assets. These recoverable
amounts were compared with the corresponding carrying
values and consequently, an impairment of £86.7M in respect

of the company’s investments was recognised. No impairment -

_charge was recognised in respect of the group’s fixed assets.

The recoverable amounts of the assets were determined from

value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations included (i) expected future revenue and '
profit growth rates, including the terminal growth rate; and (ii)
the discount rates to be applied to the estimated future cash
flows. .

Our procedures included the foliowing:

.  Obtaining management's discounted cash
flow model at 31 December 2022 and
ensuring that it was in line with the current
Board approved forecast and consistent with
the expectations of future business

~ performance observed elsewhere within our
work;

‘e Understanding the process for the Board's
review and approval of the cash flow
forecast underlying the model used at 31
December 2022;

e  Testing the mathematical accuracy of the
model;

. Engaging our valuation spe0|qllsts to assist
in the assessment of the reasonableness of
certain key assumptions in the model,

including the discount and long term growth '

rates applied;

~ e« Reviewing the key strategies and plans
being put in place by management and
evaluating the reasonableness of the related
assumptions for future profitability and
revenue growth; and’
¢  Considering the adequacy of disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no
material issues from our work.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be abie to give an opinion
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate.

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality
determined our audit scope for each component within the group. The group is split into two segments being
Automotive and Corporate Services. Each segment in turn is further dlsaggregated into reporting
components within the consolidation.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the group financial statements, and to ensure we had
adequate quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements we performed an audit of
the complete financial information of three components. We also performed audit procedures on spe0|f c
fi nanmal statement. Ime items for four.components.

The impact of cllmate risk on our audit .

.As part of our audit we made enquiries of management to understand the extent of the potential impact of
climate risk on the group’s and company’s financial statements, and we remalned alert when performing
our audlt procedures for any indicators of the impact of climate risk.

Our audit effort in considering the impact of climate change on the financial statements was focused on
evaluating management’s assessment of the impact of climate risk and their climate commitments as
disclosed in the Climate, environment and sustainability section of the Director's report. Our procedures
did not identify any material impact as a result of climate risk on the group s and company'’s financial
statements.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantltatlve thresholds -
for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items
and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the
financial statements as a whole

‘Based on our professional judgement we determlned materiality for the financial statements as a whole as

follows:

Financial statements - group

Financial statements - company

Overall materiality

£6.3M (2021: £5.9M).

£14.7M (2021: £12.6M).

How we
determined it

1% of revenue from continuing operations

1% of total assets but restricted to group
materiality allocation

Rationale for
benchmark applied

The group's principal focus is selling luxury
sports cars and developing the McLaren brand
and reputation using its high technology skills
and knowledge to build sports and supercars.
The group's business plan reiterates a
commitment to invest in research and
development for future products and technology
in order to achieve pre-pandemic levels of
revenue. Revenue is also one of the key metrics
used by management in assessing the '
performance of the group. As a result, revenue
rather than profit or loss is considered to be the
most relevant measure of performance.

The company is the ultimate holding company
of the group's investments and is not in itself
profit-oriented. The strength of the balance
sheet is the key measure of financial health -
that is important to the shareholders, since the
primary focus for the company is on the
payment of dividends. As a result, total assets
are considered to be the most relevant
benchmark.
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For each compornient in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall

~group materiality. The range of materiality allocated across components was £1.1M to £5.6M. Certain

components were audited to a local statutory audit materiality that was also less than our overall group
materiality. ’

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance
materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances,
classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. Our performance
materiality was 75% (2021: 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to £4.7M (2021: £4.5M) for the group
financial statements and-£11.0M (2021: £9.5M) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we _considered a number of factors - the history of
misstatements, risk assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that
an amount at the upper end of our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with those charged with governance that we would report to them misstatements identified during
our audit above £313,850 (group audit) (2021: £297,250) and £734,650 (company audit) (2021: £631,587)
as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Reporting on other lnformatlon

The other information comprises all of the mformatlon in the Annual Report other than the .financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express
an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated -in this report, any form of assurance

thereon. ' ‘

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement
of the other information. If,-based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures
required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audrt the Companles Act 2006 requires us also to report
_certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic
. report and Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements

and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company. and their environment obtained in

the course of the audit, we;did not |dent|fy any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors'
report
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Responsibilities for the financial statements aﬁd the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements,
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial .statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the
company'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either-intend to liquidate the group or
the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are ‘
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. :

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of -
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understa_nding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related to employment regulation, health and safety legislation and
other legislation specific to the motorsport and automotive industry in which the group operates, and we
- considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We
“also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as
the Companies Act 2006 and the UK and overseas tax legislation as applicable to the group. We evaluated
" management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including .
the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate
journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure, and management bias in determining accounting
estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included: :

e reviewing the fi nancial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulatlons considered to have a direct effect on the
financial statements;

e enquiring of management and the Audit & Risk Committee about existing and potentlal litigation and
claims, and known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulatlons and fraud;

¢ addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls by testing the appropriateness of

- certain journal entries posted with unusual account combinations, such as, journals crediting revenue
where the debit is to an unexpected account; ‘

« challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates
that involved considering future events that are inherently uncertain. In particular, in relation to the

_capitalisation and recoverability of development costs, the recoverability of investments and certain long
lived assets and the recoverability of deferred tax assets; and .

e communicating relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team
members and reminding them to be alert to any |nd|cat|ons of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughout the audit. ' :
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There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware
of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due”

to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting-one resulting from error, as fraud may involve dellberate
~ concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Our audit testing might lnclude testing complete populatlons of certain transactions and balances, possibly
using data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing,
rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on
their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion
about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further descrlptlon of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report .

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 ‘and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
" consent in writing. :

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to ‘report to you if, in our opinion'

we have not obtained all the mformatlon and explanations we require for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audlt have
"+ not been received from branches not visited by us; or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to reportlarisbing from this responsibility.

Gregory Briggs (Senior Statutory Auditor) 4
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
‘Watford
. 17 May 2023

32



Consolidated P.rofit and Loss Account

For the year ended 31 December 2022

McLaren Holdings Limited
Annual Reporl and Consolidated Fmancra/ Statemnents 2022

2021

{Loss)/profit for the financial year

The Cdmpany has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 to not
present the Company profit and loss account. The loss for the year is presented in the Company balance

sheet on page 36.

The notes on pages 40 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2022 2021 2021
Continuing Continuing Discontinued Total
Operations Operations Operations

Note £m £m £m £m -

Turnover : . 5 627.8 593.7 . 16.7 610.4
Cost of Sales (506.1) (429.9) (13.8) (443.7)
Administrative expenses (205.2) (218.0) (7.1) (225.1)
Other operating income 39.8 36.5 - 03 36.8

Other gains/(losses) : 7 86.5 228.0 (33.3) 1947

Share of loss from joint venture 15 - 4 - (33.1) (33.1)
-Impairment of assets : (21.1) 0.9y (0.4) (1.3)
Depreciation (9.8) (12.0) (2.5) (14.5)
Amortisation (143.2)' (140.0) (1.1) (141.1)
Opératjng (loss)/profit (131.3) 57.4 (74.3) - (16.9)
Interest receivable and similar income - 9 02 23 s 23"
Interest payéble and similar expenses 9 . (143.8) (52.9) (2.8) (55.7)
Gain on sale of share in subsidiary 10 - 2.8 - 2.8
(Loss)/profit before taxation. - (274.9) 9.6 77.1) (67.5)
Tax on (loss)/profit : 1 (59.8) 57.8 3.6 61.4
(334.7) 67.4 (73.5) (6.1)

All operations in 2022 relate to continuing operations. See note 6 for further mformat:on on discontinued

operations.
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‘ Consolldated Statement of Comprehensnve Income
For the year ended 31 December 2022 :

2022 2021

' _Note £m fm
Loss for the financial year : o (334.7) 6.1)
Other comprehensuve (expense)lmcome ' :

" Deferred tax charge on revaluation reserve . ' 11 3.0 11

Deferred tax on cash flow hedges S (0.6) 2.1
Cash flow hedges: A ‘ ' '

' - Change in value of hedging instrument ' (32.6) (20.7)

- Reclassifications to profit and loss . ‘ ) ' 29.0 - (2.3)

Gain on foreign. currency. translation reserve ‘ ‘ 8.2 1.7

Total comprehensive expense for the year . R (327.7) - - . (24.2)

The notes on pages 40 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

. 34



‘ McLaren Holdings Limited
Annual report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2022

" Consolidated Balance Sheét
As at 31 December 2022

2022 . 2021
- Note £Em . £m
Fixed assets : : -
Intangible assets R 12 830.3 819.6
Tangible assets - : - : 13 56.2 61.4
Heritage assets . 14 - 94 21.8
o ' 8959 . 902.8
Current assets - _
Inventories ' . . 16 167.6 195.3
Debtors - ‘ - 17 2310 - 2875
‘Cash at bank and in hand - c ' 100.7 . 76.7
o 499.3 559.5 .
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 18 - (413.8) (339.5)
- Net current assets A 85.5 2200
“Total assets less current liabilities 981.4 1,122.8.
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (511.7) (459.9)
Provisions for liabilities _ : . 22 _ (54.6) (45.1)
" Net assets . ' - © 4154 617.8-
Capital and reserves . .
Called up share capital : A 2 01 - . 0.1
Share premium account , ' - . 964.5 © 8395
Revaluation reserve ‘ . ' . 5.4 12.9
Capital contribution reserve . 2.0 2.0
Merger reserve : : ' 218.5 218.5
Other reserves E o T (1.2) - (10.6)
Accumulated losses . o (768.2) (444.6).

Total equity - . - T 4154 : 617.8 -

The notes on pages 40 to 77 form an integral part of these consolidated financial state_ménts.

The financial statements on pages.33 to 77 were authorised for issue by-the Board of Directors on 17 May
2023 and signed on'its behalf by: ' ‘

C Ferry
Director

Registered number: 10756310

35



s - ‘ ' McLaren Holdings Limited
’ Annual report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2022

Company Balance Sheet -
As at 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
‘ : £m “€m
Fixed assets : . ‘ ' :
Investments ‘ : " 15 1774 2741
Current assets , S 4 : . A
Debtors ' N ) 17 - 1,214.0 925.7
Cash at bank and in hand : : 77.9 . 63.4
' . 1,291.9 989.1
Creditors: Amounts falling due wnthm oneyear - : 18.. (474.9) (299.7)

* Net current assets 817.0 689.4
Total assets less current liabilities : o  994.4 _ 963.5
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year ~ .19 . (510.5) " © (455.0)
Net assets - ‘ 483.9 508.5

Capital and reserves g 4

_ Called-up share capital . , 26 01 . 0.1
Share premium account ~ . ‘ - 964.5 .839.5
Capital contribution reserve ' . . 2.0 : 2.0
Accumuiated losses . - ’ (482.7) (333.1)
Total equity - _ ' . ’ ' 483.9 508.5

.The Company’s loss for the year was £149.6m (2021: loss £18.4m).

The financial statements on pages 33 to 77 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 May
2023 and sngned on its behalif by

C Ferry
Director

Registered number 10756310
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January
2021

~ Loss for the
financial year

- Total

comprehensive
(loss)/profit for
the financial
year

Total
comprehensive
expense

Issue of shares

At 31
December
2021

At 1 January
2022 °

Loss for the
financial year

Total v
comprehensive
profit/(loss) for
the financial
year )

Total
comprehensive
© expense

Issue of shares
At 31

December .
2022

- *Includes transfer of révaluation'gain of £13.0m (2021:
underlying assets. o

Merger

Called up Share Capital Other Revaluation Accumulated " Total equity
‘share premium reserve contribution Reserves ‘reserve losses
capital account - ) reserve -
. £m £m £m © £m £m £m £m £m
0.1 643.8 218.5 2.0 8.6 42.6 (469.3) 446.3
- - - . - - (6.1) (6.1)
- . - . (19.2) (29.7) 308 (18.1)
- - - - (19.2) (29.7) 24.7 " (24.2)
- 195.7 . - - . - - © 195.7
0.1 839.5 218.5 2.0 . (10.6) 12.9 (444.6) 617.8
.0.1 839.5 218.5 2.0 (10.6) 12,9 (444.6) 617.8
. - - - - - (334.7) . (334.7)
. N 1
- - - - 34 (7.5)* 141 7.0
- - - - 34 (7.5) .. (323.6) - (327.7)
- 125.0 - . - - - 125.0
0.1 218.5 2.0 - (768.2) 415.1

964.5 -

7.2) - 5.4

£0.5m) to accumulated losses, upon sale of
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December.2022

At 1 January 2021
Shares issued in August 2021

Loss for the financial year / Total

comprehensive loss for the financial year

* At 31 December 2021 -
‘At 1 January 2022
Shares issued in August 2022

Loss for the financial year / Total
comprehensive loss for the financial year

At 31 December 2022 '

McLaren Holdings Limited
Annual report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2022

Share

premium Accumulated Total
"account losses Equity

£m £m £m
- 643.8 (314.7) 331.2
195.7 - 195.7
- (18.4) (18.4)
839.5 (333.1) 508.5
839.5 - (333.1) 508.5
125.0 - - 125.0
- (149.6) .(149.6)
964.5 (482.7) 483.9
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note . £m £m
Net cash used in operating activities N ' 27 (6.0) (63.8)

. Taxation paid 4 ' . (0.4) . (7.0)
Net cash used in operating activities - (6.4) (70.8)
Cash flow from investing activities :

Addition of intangible assets : L (164.6) (156.3)
Addition of tangible assets ) . ‘ ' (5.1) ~ (5.6)
Proceeds from disposal of heritage assets - : _ .14 100.0 - 93.6
Proceeds from disposal of investment .15 - 81.8
Proceeds from disposal of tangible assets (net of associated ° . :
transaction costs) . 13 . 0.3 167.8

~ Disposal of subsidiary (net of cash disposed) . - (5.2)
Net cash generated (used in)/from investing activities o (69.4) 176.1
Cash flow from financing activities : _
Repayment of obligations under finance lease = . " (1.7) - (2.0)
Receipt/(Repayment). of revolving loan facility ' , 15.0° * (68.9)
Interest paid I , (39.5) (34.9)
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary shares ' ; - . - 125.0 195.7
Repayment of senior secured notes ' - (621.2)
Proceeds from issue of senior secured notes (net of assomated
transaction costs ) - - 436.1
Net cash generated from/(used in) fmancmg activities - 98.8 (95.2)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents I 23.0 - 10.1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year S 76.7 66.7
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ’ ‘ 1.0 (0.1) .
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ) 100.7 76.7.
Cash and cash equivalents consists of: ) o ’
Cash at bank and in hand } 100.7 76.7
Cash and cash equivalents , . 100.7 _ 76.7

The notes on pages 40 to 77 form an'integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Fina.ncial Statements -

1. General informatien

McLaren Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) is privately owned
company limited by shares and incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England 10756310.
" The address of the registered office is given on page 25. The nature of the Group’s operations and |ts
principal activities are set out in the Strategic report on pages 3 to 13.

2. Statement of compliance

The Group and individual financial statements of MclLaren Holdings Limited have been prepared in
compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102) and
the Companies Act 2006. '

3. Summary of significant ac'counti-ng policies

. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate fi nan0|al :
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applled to all the years presented.

- Basis of preparatlon

The consolldated and separate financial statements are prepared on a goung concern basis, under the '
historical cost convention, as modified by the recognition of certain fi nancual assets and liabilities measured
at falr value. ;

" The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s and Company's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 4. i

- b.. Going concern

In July 2022 the Group received £125.0m of capital in the form of ordinary shares from its parent, McLaren
Group Limited, with an injtial £80.0m tranche received in July and the remaining balance of £45.0m in
September 2022. In November 2022 the Group announced that it had identified certain technical upgrades
that were required to ensure Artura customers enjoy optimum long-term performance. These upgrades
resulted in delays to wholesale shipments and customer deliveries which had an associated impact on the
Group s revenue and liquidity. In order to help manage through this issue, the Group completed the sale of
certain heritage cars to its lead shareholder for consideration of £100. Om

On 14 March 2023 the Group confirmed that shareholders of McLaren Group lelted had provided £70.0m
in additional funding, as part of an ongoing recapitalisation process. This £70.0m of funds was invested into
"'the Group as ordinary share capital. A broader recapitalisation involving the Group's existing shareholders
to fully fund McLaren’s product development strategy was noted as being subject to ongomg shareholder
discussion with further updates on this process to be provided in due course.

The Group has recently completed its annual budget and long-term plan, which have been approved by the .
Board and these have been used to carry out an assessment of the ability of the Group to fund its plans for

a period of at least 12 months from the issuance of these financial statements. These cash flow forecasts

have considered typical cash cycles, expected operational milestones (e.g. product launches), the level of

future product investment, timings of cash inflows and outflows and the impact of these on available liquidity

and covenant requirements. The Group has also taken into account severe but plausible downside

scenarios arising from the principal risks and uncertainties, especially those which have the potential to

have the greatest impact for the period under assessment :
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The Board remains positive of the future direction and long-term product plan of the business, but likewise
recognises risks to performance such as supply chain constraints, required spend on development
programmes and possible delays to the launch of new vehicles. The Board recognises that additional
funding is needed to fund the future plans of the business and in order to meet liabilities as and when they
fall due in the period of 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. As noted above
the broader recapitalisation is subject to ongoing shareholder discussion and as such this funding is not
secured at this time. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
over the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These financial statements do
not include any adjustments that would arise if the Group and the Company were unable to continue as a
going concern.

c. Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity, certain disclosure exemptions, subject to certain conditions, which have
been complied with, including notification of and no objection to, the use of exemptions by the Company’s
shareholders. :

" The Company has taken advantage of the following exemptions:

(i) from preparing a statement of cash flows, on the basis that it is a qualifying entity and ‘the
consolidated statement of cash flows, included in these financial statements, includes the
Company'’s cash flow;

(i) - from the financial instrument disclosures, required under FRS 102 paragraphs 11.42 to 11.48C
and paragraphs 12.26 to 12.29, as the information is provided in the -consolidated financial
statements disclosure; '

(i) from disclosing the Company key management personnel compensation, as required by FRS 102
paragraph 33.7. .

d. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements mclude the fi nancral statements of the Company, all of its subS|d|ary
undertakings. .

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Where the Group owns more than 50% of the
equity but has joint control over the financial and operatlng policies of an entlty, it accounts for that entity as

a joint venture using the equity method of accounting. :

Any subsidiary undertakings sold or acqu1red during the year are included up to, or from, the dates of change
of control. 4

Any subsidiary undertakings or joint venture sold or acquired during the year are accounted for as described
above up to, or from, the dates of change of control or change of significant influence respectively.

‘Where control of a subsidiary is lost, the gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account. The cumulative amounts of any exchange differences on translation, recognised in equity, are not
included in.the gain or loss on disposal and are transferred to retained earnings. The gain or loss also
|nc|udes amounts included in other comprehensive income that are required to be reclassrf ed to profi t or
loss but excludes those amounts that are not reqwred to be reclassified. .

All intra- group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Adjustments

- are made to eliminate the profit or Ioss arising on transactlons with joint ventures to )the extent of the Group’s

41



. McLaren Holdings Limited
Annual Report and Consolldated Financial Statements 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investment, the carrying
amount of that interest is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

e. Foreign currency

The Group’s financial statements are presented in pound sterling and rounded to mllllons The Company’ s
functional and presentational currency is the pound sterllng

Forelgn currency transactions are translated into thé functional currency at the rates ruling at the beglnnlng
of the month in which the transactions took place, unless they are deemed to be materially different to the
spot rate, in which case spot exchange rates are used. . .

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Non-monetary
items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets ‘and liabilities denomlnated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit and loss account. . ,

Foreign exchange gains and~losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the profit and loss account within interest receivable/(payable). The trading results of overseas
undertakings are translated into sterling at the average exchange rates for the year. The assets and
liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the year end. Exchange adjustments arising from
the retranslation of opening net investments and from the translation of the profits and losses at average
rates are recognised in ‘Other comprehensive income/(expense)’.

f. - Revenue recognition .

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amount
receivable for goods supplied or services rendered, net of returns, discounts and rebates allowed by the
Group and value added taxes. The Group bases its estimate of returns on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement

Revenue of the Group represents sale of veh|c1es and other goods to external customers, sponsorship fees,
and supply of services, excluding value added tax. The Group recognises revenue when (a) the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer; (b) the Group retains no continuing
" involvement or control over the goods; (c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; (d) itis probable
'that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and (e) when the specific criteria relating to each of the
Group's sales channels have been met, as described below. '

(i)  Income from the sale of goods is recognised when the risks and rewards of the goods have
passed to the customer. On the sale of vehicles, International Commercial Terms (INCO) are
agreed with each dealer and revenue is recognised at the point of which risk and reward transfers.
This will differ based on terms of agreement, of which the majority will either be the point of
despatch to the dealer, when the car is imported into the destlnatlon country, or when the vehicle
is received by the dealer. : :

(i)  Where a customer has purchased a package including race. events, revenue for the vehicle is
recognised when the car is made available to the customer. Revenue for each event is recognised
once the event has taken place.

(i)  Sponsorship income is deferred as appropriate and recognised over the period in wh|ch the Groupv
performs its obligations under the sponsorship contract.
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Other Income

)

(ii)

(iif)

Government grants

A government grant is assistance by government in the form of a transfer of resources to an entity
in return for past or future compliance wnth specnf' ied condltlons relating to the operating activities of

" the entity. -

The Group classifies grants either as grants relating to revenue or grants relating to assets. Grants .
relating to revenue are recognised in income on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate.

A grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for

-the purpose of giving immediate financial support with no future related costs is recognised in

income in the period in which it becomes receivable. Under the COVID-19 Job Retention Scheme

(CJRS) in the UK, HMRC reimbursed a portion of the wages of employees who have. been

furloughed and as such amounts received were recognised in the. profit and loss account over the
same perlod as the payroII costs to which they relate.

Grants relating to assets are recogmsed |n mcome on a systematic baS|s over the expected useful
life of the asset. . .

Management—fees

The Group provides certain shared management services, specifically in relation to facilities
management, IT and corporate services. These services are recognised as other income over the
period the service is provided, at the fair value of the consideration to be received in compensatlon
for this service. :

R&D Tax credits

Companies within the Group.might be entitled to claim special tax deductions for investments in
qualifying assets or in relation. to qualifying expenditure (for example the Research and

- Development Tax Incentive regime in the UK).

The Group accounts for such allowances as tax credits which are recognised in profit and Ioss as
other operatmg income..

*g. Research and development

Research expendiiure is recognised to the profit and loss account in the period it is incurred.

‘Development expendrture is capitalised only where there is a clearly defined project, the expenditure is
separately identifiable, the outcome of the project can be assessed with reasonable certainty, aggregate
costs are not expected to exceed related future sales and adequate resources exist to enable the project to
be completed. '

Research and development tax credits are treated as grant income and recognised as other income in the
profit and loss account. :

- Any withheld portion is treated as a deferred tax asset so as to be offset against future taxable profit.
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h. Employee benefits

Employee benefits include the following items:

@0

- (iii)

Defined contribution pension plans

The. Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme and also pays contributions to
personal pension schemes of certain employees A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions to a separate entity. Once the contributions have
been paid the Group has no further payment obligations. The contributions are recognised as an
expense when they are due.” Amounts not paid are shown in accruals in the balance sheet. The
assets of the plan are held separately from the Group in independently administered funds.

* Short-term benefits

Short terrn benefits, including holiday pay and other similar monetary benefits, are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the service is rendered. . .

Annual bonus plan

N

“The Group operates a number of annual bonus plans for employees. An expense is recognised

in the profit and loss -account when the Group-has a legal or constructive obligation to make
payments under the plans as aTesult of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can

“be made. -

Termination benefits

The Group recognises termination benefits as a liability and an expense when it is able to
demonstrate a detailed formal plan for the termination without realistic possibility of withdrawal
from the plan. The termination benefits consist of Statutory redundancy and payment in. lieu and
is measured at the best estlmate of the expendlture that would be required to settle the obligation
at the reportlng date. .

i. Taxation

Taxation ‘expense for the penod comprlses current and deferred tax recognised in the reportlng perlod Tax
is recognised in the profit and loss account, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. ‘ : '

Current or deferred taxatlon assets and liabilities are not discounted.

(i)

(ii) -

Current tax

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is the amount of income tax payable in ‘
respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is calculated on the basis of tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end.

Deferred tax

Deferred-tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income as stated in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from
inclusion of income and expénses in the tax assessments of different periods than those in which
they are recognised in financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timihg differences that have originated-but not reversed at the ‘;
reporting date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future
or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the reporting date.
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Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assé_ts are only recognised when it is probable that
they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for timing differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the timing
difference and it is probable that it will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is meésured_ using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the period end and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

Deferred tax isVCharged -or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity or other comprehensive income.

j. Intangible assets _
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Research expenditure is written off in the period it is incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised only
where there is a clearly defined project, the expenditure is separately identifiable, the outcome of the project
can be assessed with reasonable certainty, aggregate costs are not expected to exceed related future sales
and adequate resources exist to enable the project to be completed. Development costs include materials,
direct labour and the cost of work outsourced to third parties. :

A change in accounting estimate has been applied from 1st January 2022 to change the method of
amortisation of production development costs from a wholesale lifecycle basis to a straight-line basis, where
the useful economic life is defined as the period of production of the corresponding vehicle. The change in
accounting estimate was made to better align with others in our industry and has resulted in an increased
amortisation charge in the year of £34.7m, lowering the closing net book value of the associated assets to
£599.2m. '

Development costs on each programme are capitalised up to the point at which the vehicle is formally
handed over to production, which normally occurs 90 days following the first production vehicle being
produced. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the profit and loss
account as it is incurred. :

Amortisation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets taking into account factors such as
expected period of use, likely technological advancements etc. IT Infrastructure expenditure is capitalised
and amortised on a straight-line basis over 10 years from the date of implementation. Bespoke and limited
volume programme development costs are amortized across the programme lifecycle based on units
produced. For all other intangible assets, amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate .
the depreciable amount of the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, up to 10 years
for development costs. ’ ' :

Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value
or useful life have changed, the residual value, useful life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to
reflect the new circumstances.

The -assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be
Jimpaired. '

k. Tangible assets

Tangible assets are stated at cost less accurﬁulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost
includes the original purchase price and costs directly attributable to bringing ‘the asset to its working
. condition for its intended use.
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Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following rates: -

Freehold buildings . » - 2% - 10% straight line

Short term Leasehold premises and improvements -  written off over the life of the lease

Plant, machinery, tools and equipment- - 5:20% of reducing balance or 5 years straight line
Motor vehicles 4 - 25% of réducing balance or 4 years straight line
Fixtures, fittings and office eqmpment . - 20% of reducing balance or 3-5 years straight line .

Land is not depreciated. Assets in the course of construction are stated at cost. These assets are not
deprecuated until they are avallable for use.

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. The effect of any change is accounted for prospectively.

Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are ‘expected. On
disposal, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrylng amount is recognlsed in the
profit and loss account.

Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred.
I. Heritage assets -

The G]’oup has a collection of heritage vehicles, treated as heritage assets, which are stated at cost less
accumulated impairment lossés. Cost includes any costs that are directly attributable to bnnglng the asset
to its working condition for its intended use.

The vehicles are maintained by the business on a regular basis with maintenance costs being charged to
~ the profit and loss account when incurred. The cars are deemed to have indeterminate lives and therefore
are not depreciated but instead are assessed for impairment. ’

At the point a car is identified for sale, those cars are transferred to inventory. On disposal of the cars, the
sales proceeds are recognised as revenue and the carrying value and associated costs are recognised
- within cost of sales. o

m. Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss inthe period in wnich they are incurred, except for
costs directly incurred in relation to a new financing facility in which case the cost is deferred on the
balance sheet net of the relevant facility balance, and amortised over the term of the facility:

n. Leased assets

Atinception the Group assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets. The assessment considers
whether the arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.

Finance leased assets

- Leases of assets that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at commencement of the lease as
assets at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease. Where the implicit rate cannot be
determined the Group's.incremental borrowing rate is used. Incremental direct costs, incurred in
negotiating and arranging the lease, are included in the cost.

Assets are depremated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the asset.
Assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date.
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Operating leased assets

Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating
leases. Payments under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-
. line basis over the period of the lease.

Lease incentives

Incentives received to enter into a finance lease reduce the fair value of the asset and are included
in the calculation of present value of minimum lease payments. Incentives received to enter into -
an operating lease are credited to the profit and Ioss account to reduce the lease expense, on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction involves the sale of an asset and the leasing back of the same
asset. If the sale and leaseback transaction is classified as an operating lease, then any gain or
loss is recognised immediately if the sale and leaseback terms are demonstrably at fair value. If
the sale price is below fair value then the gain or loss is recognised immediately other than to the
extent that a loss is.compensated for by future rentals at below market price, then the loss is
deferred and amortised over the period that the asset is expected to be used. If the sale price is
above fair value, then any gain is deferred and amortised over the useful life of the asset.

o. Impairment of non-financial assets'

- At each balance sheet date non-financial assets not carried at fair value are assessed to determine . whether
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. If there is such an indication the recoverable amount
of the asset is compared to the carrying amount of the asset. The recoverable amount of the asset is the
higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is defined as the present value of
the future cash flows before interest.and tax obtainable as a resuit of the asset's continued use. These cash
. flows are discounted using a discount rate that represents_the current market risk-free rate and the risks
inherent in the asset. The forecast cash flows are based on the Group s approved business plan that was
in effect as at the reporting date.

Ifthe recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be lower than the carrying amount, the carrying amount
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account unless
the asset has been revalued when the amount is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent
of any previously recognised revaluation. Thereafter any excess is recognised in profit or loss.

If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the revised carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no |mpa|rment loss been recognised in prior
periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.

p. In vestments

Investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries in the Company s standalone financial statements
are held at cost less accumulated |mpalrment Iosses

q. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

Costs of raw materials and consumables are ascertained on an average cost basis and cost of finished
goods and work in progress, includes materials, direct labour and an attributable proportion of '
manufacturing overheads based on normal levels of activity. Net realisable value is based on estimating
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selling price, less further costs expected to be incurred to completlon and dlsposal Provision is made for
obsolete slow-movmg or defective items where appropriate. :

r. Cash and cash equ:valents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and bank overdrafts, whilst bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowing in current liabilities. :

s. Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount of
the obligation can be estimated reliably. : :

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has a detaivled, formal plan for the restructuring
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected by either starting to implement the plan or announcing

. its main features to those affected and therefore has a legal or constructive obllgatlon to carry out the

restructuring. Provisions are not made for future operatmg losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expendltures expected to be. requured to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation..

For warranties, an estimated provision is made egeinst all vehicles based on the histori(:al average warranty
claims made on the vehicles by the customers, together with the average amount reclaimed from the .
vendors. The estlmates and underlying assumptions are rewewed on an ongomg basns

t. Financial mstruments '
The Group has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.
(i) Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables (except for prepayments) and cash
and bank balances are initially recognised at transaction price. Such assets are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. At the end.of each reporting period
financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment.
If an asset is impaired the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated cash rows discounted at the assets original effectlve interest rate.

The |mpalrment loss is recognised in prof' it or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset -
are transferred to another party or (c) despite having retained some significant risks and rewards
of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical -
ability to unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional
restrictions.

(i) Financial liabilities

- Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables (except for deferred income), bank
loans and loans from fellow Group companies are initially recognised at transaction price, unless
the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the
present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Debt instruments are
subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
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Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that:it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it.is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accolints payable are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presénted as non-current liabilities. Trade
payables are recognised initially at transaction prlce and subsequently measured at amortlsed
cost using the effective interest method.

Trade finance liabilities are recognised at the present value of future cash flows. On the raising of
an invoice, the debt is settled by the lender, to which the Group will repay the original invoice
amount plus an agreed interest rate on approved terms with the lender. In the meantime, the
dealer base will settle the invoice at the maturlty of the original invoice due date and in the full
invoice amount

Financial Ilabllmes are derecognised when the liability is extlngmshed that is when the contractual
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. :

“With the exception of some hedging instruments, other debt instruments not meeting conditions
of being ‘basic’ financial instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Foreign currency derivative financial instruments

Forward foreign exchange contracts are derivatives which are not basic financial instruments. The

_Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to foreign exchange risk
movements. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives are recognised in other comprehensive income where part of an effective cash flow
hedge (see note 3v below) or otherwise in the profit and loss in finance costs or finance income
as appropriate. .

~(iv) Fair value measurement. -

The best evidence of fair-value is a quoted price for an identical asset in an active market. When

"quoted prices are unavailable, the price of a recent transaction for an identical asset provides
evidence of fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic
circumstances or a significant lapse of time since the transaction took place. ‘If the market is not
active and recent transactions of an identical asset on their own are not a good estimate of fair
value, the fair value is estimated by using a valuation technique that maximises the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobsei'vable units. The chosen valuation technique
incorporates aII of the factors that market participants would take into account in pncmg and
transaction.

(v) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, .and the net amounts presented in the financial
statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

u. -Hedge accounting

‘The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges.
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At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the economic relationship between the
hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and clear identification
of the risk in the hedged item that is being hedged by the hedging instrument. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge the Group determines, and documents causes for hedge ineffectiveness. ’

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods in which the hedged item affects
profit or loss or when the hedging relationship ends '

Hedge accountlng is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging mstrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accountmg

Any gain or loss accumulated in equity at that time is reclassified to proﬁt or loss when the hvedged item is
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, any gain or loss
that was recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified immediately to profit or loss.

v. Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deductlon net of tax, from the proceeds.

w. Related party transactions

The Group discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned within the same Group.
Where appropriate, transactions of a similar nature are aggregated unless, in the opinion of the Directors,
separate disclosure'is necessary to understand the effect of the transactions on the Group financial
statements. The Company does not dlsclose transactions with members of the same Group that are whoIIy
owned.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the app|ication of the Group’s accounting policiee, which are described in note 3, the Directors are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. :

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events.that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that perlod or in the perlod of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods. .

The judgements, estimates and assumptions whlch are of most sugnlflcance in preparing the Group's
financial statements are: .

(a) Critical jedgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies:

0) Capitalisation of research and development costs

The Directors assess whether all the criteria for capitalisation of research and development costs
have been met. This includes determining whether there is a clearly defined project, whether the
expenditure is separately identifiable, the outcome of the project can be assessed with reasonable
certainty, aggregate costs are not expected to exceed related future sales and adequate resources -
exist to enable the project to be completed
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(ii)

Sale and leaseback

In 2021, the Group completed a sale and leaseback on its head-office and carried out an -
assessment to consider whether the. resulting lease was an operatlng or finance lease. This
assessment took into account available accounting guidance, with specific consideration given to,
but not limited to, the trarisfer of risks and rewards, any transfer of ownership of the asset at the
end of the lease, the lease term, the present value of lease payments, nature of the asset,
availability of break clauses, extension options etc. Following the completion of this analysis, it
was concluded based on the facts and circumstance of thls transaction, that the Iease was most
appropriately treated as an operating lease.

(b) Key accounting estimates and assumptions

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

lmpalrment of tanglble and intangible assets

The Directors regularly consider the carrylng value of tanglble and intangible assets and alongside
the factors that could indicate that the carrying amount of these assets could be impaired. Such
factors include actual cash flow generation with that in the business plan, the volume of vehicles
sold and that expected to be sold in the future, the profi tab|||ty of each model and other relevant
economic factors.

If there are events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
will not be recovered, there is'a need to estimate the recoverable amount by determining future
cash flows and applying an appropriate discount rate (refer to Note 3j and 3o for further details).
Management completed an assessment of these assets for impairment at year end and, as part
of the process, calculated their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount was compared with
the corresponding carrying value. See note 15 for detalls of the key assumptions and sensitivity
analysis.

Capitalisation of research and‘deVeIopment' costs

In determining the development expenditure to be capitalised, the Directors make estimates and
assumptions based on expected future economic benefits (forecasted revenue less costs)

" generated by products that are the result of these development expenditures, and the expected

useful economic life.
Valuation and recoverability of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the temporafy differences can be utilised. Recognition, therefore,
involves judgement regarding the prudent forecasting of future taxable profits of the business.

. Based on the business plans of the Group, tax Iosses with a carrymg value of £105.5m have been

dercognised during 2022 where taxable profits to offset these losses were not expected to be
~available untll after 2030.

Warranty costs

The Group prowdes product warranties under which the performance quality and standard of the
vehicle sold is guaranteed for a defined period of time. A provision is recognised at the point of
sale for the estimated future cost of such a warranty. The estimated future costs of these warranty
obligatiohs are based on historical claims data and other assumptions regarding the warranty
costs of each model. Whilst the Group has significant experience estimating the future warranty
costs to the business, the uncertain nature of these future costs, such as the identification of quality
issues after launch, could require adjustments based on the facts and circumstances existing at
the time, and such changes would impact both the provision and the results of operations.
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(v) - Recoverabllrty of the Company's mvestment in subsidiaries

. The Directors regularly consider the recoverabllrty of the carrylng amount of the investment in
subsidiaries. alongside the factors that could indicate that the carrying amount could be impaired.
Such factors include expected cash flow generation from the underlying assets held by the
subsidiaries. If there are events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying A
amount will not be recovered, there is a need to estimate the recoverable amount by determining
future cash flows and applying an appropriate discount rate. .

Management completed an assessment of its mvestment in McLaren Automotlve Limited for
impairment at year end and, as part of the process, calculated its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount was compared with the corresponding carrying value and consequently, an
impairment of £96.7m was recognised. See note 15 for details of the key assumptlon and
sensmwty analysis.

5. Segment inforrnation -

Description of business segments and principal activities

The Group’s Board of Directors examlne the Groups performance from three identifiable business
segments . .

Automotive — a global leader in the design and manufacture of luxury hlgh performance sports and
' supercars.

Applied — prior to its dlsposal in August 2021 (see note 6) this le|S|on focused -on the appllcatlon of
MclLaren'’s technological know-how in a wide variety of fields.

Corporate services - provides shared management sérvices to all McLaren Holdings Limited companies

covering facilities management, IT and corporate services. These costs are recharged out to the other Group -

companies as appropriate:

‘Turnover by business segment. . 12022 2021
: i ” ) . . £m £m
Automotive : - S 627.8 _ 593.7
Applied (Discontinued Operation) . : B - 18.5
Corporate services ' . ' 58.9 56.8
' , : 686.7 - 669.0
Less inter-segmental turnover .- (58.9) . (58.6)
: : ' ' 6278 610.4
Turnover after the elimination of inter-segmental turnover:
Automotive - ' S : : 627.8 593.7
Applied (Discontinued Operation) . o o - 16.7 .

627.8 610.4

The above 2021 segment breakdown is different to the face of the prof it and loss account as this is stated
before intergroup transactions in Applied are eliminated. ’

~In 2021 turnover and EBITDA included the revenue and profit arising from the transfer of a number of

' heritage car assets from McLaren Racing to the Corporate Services segment at market value. The revenue
and profit arising on this transaction was eliminated on consolidation.
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Analysis’of turnover by region

2022 2021

Region . _ . .  £fm £m
Europe : _ . : 1724 . 217.2
North America . _ - o - 279.8 227.2
Asia Pacific - S ' © 1011 938
~ China ) ' ' 45.4 440
Rest of World | : ‘ 204 28.2 .
Global o : _ : . 627.8 . 6104
. ‘ o 2022 2021
Analysis of turnover by category . IR £m £m
Sales of goods : 4 4 : A 558.3 540.5
Rendering of services ' - . ' - 68.2 68.6
Royalties ' . : o 1.3 1.3 .
: ' 627.8 . 6104
. Rendering of services includes commissions of £34.5m (2021: £34.1m).

' A . 2022 - 2021
Adjusted EBITDA by business segment . A £m £m
Automotlve ' o (82.7) (10.2)
Applled (Discontinued Operatlon) o ' _ - © (4.8)
Corporate services A (6.8) .(3.3)
"Corporate services — Gain on sale of heritage cars* : 86.5 80.8
Corporate services — Gain on sale of investment* o - 79.5
Corporate services - Gain on sale and leaseback of bmldmgs ' ' - 67.7
Applied - Loss on disposal of business * S - (33.3)

~ Corporate Services - Gain on sale of share in subsidiary * . - .28
' (3.0)- 179.2

* As these items are not included within the Group's segment information reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker, they have not been allocated to a specific segment and instead are presented separately
in this reconciliation.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as (loss)/profit before taxation, adding back interest payable/receivable and
similar charges, depreciation, amortisation and impairment and share in loss of joint venture. The interest’
added back excludes foreign exchange gains and losses apart from those resulting from the retranslation
of the USD senior secured notes. .
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Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as follows:

2022 2021

_ v £m . £m

Loss before taxation o » o : ' (274.9) (67.5)

Interest receivable (excluding foreign exchange) ; ‘ (0.2) -

Interest payable (excluding foreign exchange) o 449 . 5141

~ Senior secured notes retranslation forelgn exchange 53.1 ' 7.4
Amortisation - : ‘ 143.2 1411

Depreciation . ' 9.8 14.5

Impairment of assets ' , - ‘ ‘ 21.1 (0.5)

Share of loss of joint ventures ' h . - 33.1

Adjusted EBITDA ' , : : (3.0) . 179.2

6. Discontinued operations
. G'roup

Racing

In August 2021 the Group dlsposed of its shareholding in McLaren Racing to McLaren Group Limited for

£81.8m, resulting in a gain on disposal of £79.5m. In 2021 -prior to the dlsposal the Group had recognised
. £33.1m as its share of McLaren Racing’s loss

Applied

"On 4 August 2021, following a strategic review of the Group s structure, the Group completed the sale of
its Applied business division to Greybull Capital, focusing the Group’s activities on supercar
manufacturing. During the previous year the Applied business, prior to disposal, contributed a post-tax
loss of £40.3m. The Group received no cash consideration. The net liabilities pre-disposal were £49.6m
and following'a loan forgiveness, the net assets at the date of disposal were £26.4m along with contract
provisions of £6.9m, resulted in a loss on disposal of £33.3m recognised in.the profit and loss account..
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7. Operating (loss)/profit

Operating (loss)/profit is etated after (crediting)/charging:

2022 2021

‘ ) £m £m
Profit on disposal of tangible assets A - (67.7)
Loss on dlsposal of business , : ‘ _ - - 333
Gain on dlsposal of investment - ’ - (79.5)
Gain on sale of heritage assets (86.5) ' (80.8)
Depreciation of tangible assets ' 9.8 145
Amortisation of intangible assets - R - - 143.2 142.3
Amortisation of deferred capital funding ' : - (1.2)
Impairment of intangible assets ' ' 211 - (0.5)
lrnpairment of tangible assets : . S - 1.8
- Impairment of inventory (recognised within cost of sales) - ) ' 39.7 4.5
Inventory recognised ‘as_an expense ' ' 260.0 - 255.4
Research & development tax credits - : (9.1) (10.0y
Operating lease charges . 4' o . 213 205

In 2022 the Group sold a number of heritage cars WhICh consisted of a gross con5|derat|on of £100.0m
less heritage assets disposed of £13.5m giving a net gain of £86.5m.

Other gains and losses in 2021 include a £67.7m gam arising on the sale and leaseback of the Group's
headquarters which was completed in April 2021. The gain comprised gross consideration of £170.0m
less fees of £2.2m, tangible assets disposed of £191.7m and deferred capital funding liability of £91.6m.
Other gains and losses included the gain on sale of McLaren Racing investment to McLaren Group of
£79.5m, a gain on sale of heritage assets of £80.8m and the loss on dlsposal of Applied of £33.3m.

Other operating income primarily comprlse research & development tax credlts and expenses recharged
‘to McLaren Racing lelted and McLaren Applled lelted

2022 2021

£m £m

- Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for the audit of 0.1 0.1
the Company s and the Group’s consolidated financial statements . '

Fees payable to the Companys auditors and its associates for other

services: , . A .

- The audit of the Company’s éubsidiaries , ' . 0.6 0.6

. Audit related assurance services. _— : S ea 0.1

- . Corporate Finance Transactlon Serwces . : - 0.3

. Tax compliance services , ' ' - 0.1

Total amount payable to the Company’s auditors and its assocnates - 08 1.2
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8. Employees and Directors
Group a
Employees '

' The average monthly number of persons (including executive Directors) employed by the Group
(excluding employees of joint ventures) during the year was: - . ‘

2022 2021

, " Number Number
Production o . 552 - - 555
Design & Engineering S o . 555 634
Administration : - o .. 1,368 - - 1,319
2475 2,508
2022 . 2021
- . £m £m
‘Wages and salaries ' ' _ 1424 1509
Social security costs ’ o R . 1141 15.7
- Other pensionlcosts o C.42 3.7
 Capitalised labour costs - ' : ‘ - ‘ (47.6) (44.5)

Staff costs charged to brofit and loss | : K . 1101 125.8

Directors

Theé Directors of the Company are considered to be the‘only Key Management Personnel of the Group.
Details of transactions with Directors and members during the year are disclosed in note 29.

The directors’ emoluments were as follows: ‘
' ' ‘ 2022 2021

' ‘ o £fm £m
Highest paid director emoluments 1.0 3.9
Aggregate emoluments excluding highest paid director ‘ _ 1.1 0.7
‘ 21 46

- Director’'s emoluments in 2022 included 2 directors (2021: 2 directors) paid by subsidiaries of the Group,

with the remaining directors being employees of and remunerated by McLaren Group Limited, the parent

of the Company. There were no pensions paid to directors. No recharges were made to the Company in
relation to the remuneration of the directors who were employees of McLaren Group Limited. -
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8. Netinterestincome/(expense)

2022 2021

£m £m
(a) Interest receivable and similar income ' )
Bank interest recelved ' o ' ’ _ 0.2 -
Total interest income on fi nanC|aI assets not measured at fair value through 0.2 -
profit or loss
Gain on derivative financial liabilites _ . - 23
Total interest receivable and similar income : 0.2 23
(b)- Interest payable and similar expenses . 2022 2021 -
. . i Em £m
Interest payable on related party loans (0.4) (0.5)
Finance lease interest ‘ C , 4 . (0.3) (0.5)
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts ' . ' (2.3) - (2.9)
Interest péyable on senior secured notes’ : ' ' (39.9) (45.9)
Other interest payable and finance charges : ' (2.0) . (1.3)
Total interest expense on fi nanC|aI llabllmes not measured at falr value , (44.9) (51.1)
. through profit and loss ‘
Losses on derivative financial instruments ' (29.0) -
Net exchange loss ~ _ ' . : (69.9) (4.6)
Total interest payable and similar expenses ’ . (143.8) (55.7)
2022 2021
£m. £m
'(c) Net interest income/(expense)
Interest receivable and similar income . : : ‘ -02 - 23
Interest bayable and similar expenses R - (143.8) (55.7)
Net interest income/(expénse) ST . . - (143.6) (53.4)

10. Galn on sale of share in McLaren Raclng Limited

In December 2020, McLaren Racing Limited issued 12% unsecured convertlble loan notes and warrants for
proceeds of £100.0m. This was the first tranche of a total committed investment of £185.0m, with the
remaining due over 2021 and 2022. A further £25.0m of loan notes and warrants were issued in June 2021.

The framework governance agreement for McLaren Racing entered into part of this arrangement provides
the framework under which the business is operated, including defining certain substantive rights in relation
to its financial and operating policies. As a consequence of this arrangement it was assessed that the Group
holds joint control with the third party investors; meaning the assets and liabilities of McLaren Racing were
disposed from the consolidated balance sheet of the Group in December 2020 and subsequently McLarén
Racing is accounted for as a joint venture and subject to the equity method of accounting.
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The determination of any resultant gain/(loss) on the effective sale of a share in the subsidiary (e.g. by
issuing warrants, the Group is diluted and therefore in-effect selling a portion of its interest in Racing)
requires allocating the total proceeds received between the debt (loan notes) and the equity (warrants)
components of the transaction. This allocation of the proceed is based on a determination of the fair value
of the loan notes issued and involves judgement and estimation. The exercise resulted in £4.0m (2020:
£30.0m) being allocated to equity and £21.0m (2020: £70.0m) being allocated to debt.

The gain recorded in 2021 in the consolidated financial statements is calqulafed in the table below:

2021
. : * . - £m
Proceeds allocated to the equity of McLaren Racing B 4.0
. Group's share of the above proceeds at 75.0% being the Group s retalned
interest in McLaren Racing (see note 15) - (A) ‘ : ‘ 3.0
" Carrying amount of invesfment of McLaren Racing 6n the date of sale : : 3.6
Carrying amount of interest transferred being 3.95% representing 5% of the .
shareholding sold (see note 15) — (B) o _ 0.2
"~ Gainon sale of share in McLaren Racing (A-B) . - ' : 28

In August 2021 the Company sold its investment in McLaren Racing for a consideration of £81 .8m and the
investment dlsposed of was £2.3m glvmg a net profit on disposal of £79.5m.

11. Tax on (loss)/profit
2022 2021

(a) Tax charge/(credit) included in prof.lt‘ or loss £m . £m

Current tax: ]

- UK corporation tax on loss for the period ‘ 1.7 25

- - Foreign corporation tax on loss for the year . 33 3.2

- Adjustments in respect of prior years _ o : : (0.3) A_ 0.6 .

Total current tax : o , 47 6.3
Deferred tax: . . , : N

- Originati_oh and reversal of timing differences - . (42.6) - (20.7) .

- Adjustments in respect of prior years . ' 4.9 (4.4)

- Unrecognised deferred tax ‘ o ‘ - 43.2 -

- Derecognition of previously recorded deferred tax assets o - 623 ‘ -

- Impact of change in tax rate S o : ‘ (12.7) (42.6)

Total deferred tax (note 23) | | 554 (67.7)

Tax charge/(credit) on loss S - S . 598 . (614)
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(b) Tax credit included in other comprehensive (éxpense)/income

Deferred tax: 2022 2021
- £m £m
Origination and reversal of timing differences: '

-- Deferred tax on cash flow hedges ‘ ' (0.6) 2.1
- Origination and reversal of timing differences _ ' ‘ 3.0 1.1
Tax credit included in other comprehensive expense - - ‘24 3.2

(c). Reconciliation of tax chargel(credlt) ~

The tax assessed for the year is higher (2021: lower) than the standard rate of corporatlon tax in the UK of

19% (2021: 19%). The differences are explained below:

2022 - 2021
, i £m £m
Loss before taxation : : . o (274.9) (67.5)
Loss before taxation multlplled by the standard rate of tax in the UK of 19% ' (52.2) (12.8)
(2021: 19%) ' :
Effects of: A _
- Income not subject to tax . . (13.9) (24.3)
- Unrecognised deferred tax o : 405 - 9.9
- Derecognltlon of prevnously recorded deferred tax assets ' - 623 _ -
- Expenses not deductible for-tax purposes R ‘ ‘ AL 30.4 1.2
- Impact of overseas tax rates S : 0.8 1.0
- Adjustments in respect of bripr years ) . 44 (3.8)
- Withholding tax-suffered - S ) : 0.2 -
- Re-measurement of deferred tax - : . a (12.7) (42.6)
" Total tax chargel(credit) for year , : 59.8 .(61 4)

'(d) Tax rate changes

The current UK corporation tax rate is 19% (2021:19%). Deferred tax balances at 31 December 2022 are
measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantlvely enacted by the period end that

are expected to.apply to the reversal of the tlmmg difference.

In the Spring Budget of 2021, the UK Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax
rate would increase to 25% (rather than remaining at 19%, as previously enacted). This new law was
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. In the Autumn Statement in November 2022, the government
confirmed the increase in.corporation tax rate to 25% from April 2023 will go ahead. Deferred taxes at the.
balance sheet date have been measured usmg these enacted tax rates and reflected in these fi nancual

statements.
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During 2021, the OECD published a framework for the introduction of a global minimum effective tax rate
of 15%, applicable to large multinational groups. On 20 July 2022, HM Treasury released draft legislation
to implement these 'Pillar 2' rules with effect for years beginning on or after 31 December 2023 The .
. Group is revrewrng these draft rules to understand any potential impacts.

12. Intangible assets

Group

Cost:
At 1 January 2022
Additions v
_ Reclassification
At 31 December 2022

Accumulated amortlsatlon and-

impairment:

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the year
Impairment ‘

At 31 December 2022

Net book value:
At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

New
Production IT Systems
Development Development
‘Costs Costs Total
£m. £m £m
1,732.0 75.0 1,807.0
164.2 0.4 164.6
0.3 - 0.3
© 1,896.5 75.4 1,971.9
946.2 41.2 987.4
©126.2 6.9. 133.1
211 - 21.1
1,093.5 . 48.1 1,141.6
803.0 27.3 830.3
© 785.8 819.6

33.8

~ Research and development costs recognised as an expense in the year were £1.5m (2021: £1.4m). New
‘production development costs relate to expenditure on developing cars which are expected to be amortised
. over a period consistent with the expected life span of the associated vehicle, being typically 5-10 years.
The most material balance is in relation to the Artura, the Group's first high performance hybrid supercar to
be launched on its new lightweight carbon vehicle architecture. Other material balances relate to other
future models in development as well as existing models such as the GT, 720S and 765LT. Spend on one

model may support the development of other models and therefore the amortisation of these costs will .

reflect this fact.

. The impairment charge results from product development spend on certain product attrlbutes which were -

dlscontlnued during the year.

IT systems development costs.re,late to network development and CAD upgrade.

. The amortisation charge includes £nil (2021: £10.1m) absorbed into inventory.

The Company had no intangible assets at 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
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13. Tangible assets

Group ’ Plant, Fixtures, Assets
) Freehold = ‘Leasehold Machinery, Fittings in the
Land and Premises and . Tools and Motor and Office Course of .
Buildings Improvements Equipment Vehicles Equipment Construction ~ . Total
£m £m £m £m : £m - £m £m
Cost: -
At 1 January 2022 29 371 52.0 2.1 66.1 0.8 161.0
Additions - 1.2 03 . - 1.6 2.0 5.1
Disposals . - (0.2) (0.1) - (0.1) - (0.4)
Reclassification - 2.1 - - _(2.3) (0.1) (0.3)
At 31 December 2022 29 40.2 52.2 21 . 653 2.7 165.4
Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment: .
At 1 January 2022 - 45 424 12 51.5 - 99.6
Charge for the year - 25 27 - 46 - 9.8
Disposals - - (0.1) - (0.1) - (0.2)
At 31 December 2022 - © 7.0 45,0 1.2 56.0 - 109.2
Net book value: . -
At 31 December 2022 29 33.2 7.2 0.9 9.3 - 27 56.2
29 32.6 9.6 0.9 - 14.6 0.8 61.4

At 31 December 2021

Short-term

McLaren Holdings Limited
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2022

The net carrying amount of assets held undef finance leases included Within fixtures, fittings 'and office

equipment is £1 6m (2021 £3.6m).

. These assets are mcluded within total assets whlch are offered as security against liabilities see note 19.

Reclassnf" cation includes vehicle related costs sat in assets under construction now moved to product
development intangible assets.

The Company had no tangible assets at 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).-

4. Heritage assets

Over the last 50 years the Group has established a large collection of heritage race and road cars which

chronicle ‘the Group’s racing heritage and its development into a global leader in high performance
supercars. These vehicles have been used to serve as promotional vehicles for the brand within the
McLaren Technology Centre (MTC) as well.as at museums, retailers and heritage track days around the
world. The collection comprises 18 vehicles (2021: 54).

Group »

Cost and net book value: : ‘ ‘ : ‘ ' - £m
At 1 January 2022 L ' ' . 21:8
Reclass from Inventory : ' , ' ’ ‘ 11
Disposal ‘ (13.5)
At 31 December 2022 ‘ S ‘ : 9.4
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Five year financial summary of heritage asset transactions:

.2022 2021 2020 2019 201 8

£m £m £m £m £m
Additions ' 14 0.4 02 . 03 0.3
Disposals: ' .
Carrying value . " (13.5) (12.8) 23.2 . -
Sales proceeds : 100.0 93.6 - .- ' -

. In 2022 McLaren Services dlsposed of heritage asset vehicles, for proceeds of £100m with'a carrying value
of £13.5m. Thls gave a net gain on disposal of £86.5m.

The Company had no Herltage assets at 31 December 2022 (2021: £ nil).

15. " Investments

Group' - . i o .
Investment in Joint Venture _ ‘
As explained in note 10, the issuance of loan notes and warrants by M_cLareri Racing was coincident with
an agreement on a new governance structure for the business. Under the revised structure, the Group and
the investors were determined to have joint control over the relevant activities of McLaren Racing making it
a joint venture for the Group and, therefore, subject to equity method -accounting. In 2021 the investment in

Mclaren Racing was disposed of and transferred to the Parent of the Group, McLaren Group lelted and
therefore there are no transactions to record in 2022, '

- Investment in joint venture as at 31 December 2022 and 31 Decemb‘er 2021 was cemputed as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m

As at 1 January - 326
Reduction in shareholding in Racing (see below) S B 2.8
Group’s share 71% (2021 :7_5%‘) of the losses :of the joint venture - (33.1)
- Disposal ' ‘ A - (2.3)

As at 31 December 2022 : A ‘ - -
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/

2022 2021
£m : £m
Carrying amount of‘McLaren Racing's net assets at disposal ’ ' - ' -
Carrying value of diluted interest . s - (0.2)
Group's share 71% (2021: 75%) of the proceeds in McLaren Racing allocated - .. 30
~ to equity (refer note 10)
' . 2.8

On 3 August 2021 the Group disposed of its shareholdlng in McLaren Racing for £81 8m, resulting in a
gain on disposal of £79.5m.

Company 2022 - 2021
i £m £m
At 1 January ' ’ ) ’ 2741 . 355.8
Disposal of McLaren Racing ] ‘ ' - (817
Impairment ‘ , . o (96.7) = - -
At 31 December _ - 1774 2741

A list of subsidiaries of the Company are provided in note 31.

A non-cash impairment charge of £96.7m was recognised durlng the year in the standalone Company
accounts, to reflect the estimated recoverable amount of investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
based on the Group’s approved business plan that was in effect as at the reporting date.

The recoverable amount is a source of significant estimation uncertainty and is determined using a value-
"in—use calculation which required the use of assumptions. The post-tax discount rate applied to future
cash flows is 13% with subsequent growth of 2% used to measure cash flow projections beyond the
_period covered by the board approved business plan.

As subsidiary investments have been impaired to their recoverable value in the current financial period
based on the inputs noted above, a worsening in cash flows, a higher discount rate or a lower long-term
growth rate would result in an additional impairment. To illustrate this sensitivity, if the discount rate had
been 1% higher, this would have resulted in an additional impairment charge of £138.9m being
recognised. Similarly, a reasonable change to the cash flows or the long term discount rate would also
result in a material additional impairment.

1

Based on the impairment assessment performed for the consolidated assets, no charge was identified. At
this level, even a 1% increase in the discount rate or a 10% reduction in estlmated annual cash flows
would not result in an impairment charge.
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16. Inventories

" Group -
2022 . 2021
. £m ' £m
Raw materials and consumables - 65.7 ’ 80.8
Work in progress , 58.2 59.1
. Finished goods and goods for resale ‘ 43.7 55.4
- - ' 167.6 - 195.3
Inventories are stated dﬁer provisions for impairment of £41.0m (2021 : £5.8m).
- The Company had no invenioriés at 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
17. Debtors
h Grou . 2022 2021
P £m. £m
Trade debtors » ‘ : 535 ... 500
Amounts owed by related 'parties (note 29) ' . 1.2 : 4.’1.
Taxation and social security : : : B 4.3 10.3
Other debtors : : ' ' 18.9 - 182
Deferred tax asset (note 23) - . 1250 . 1777
Derivative financial assets (notes 24 and 25) . L ' 29 . 6.2
Prepa'yments'and accrued income © - . . 19.2 210
231.0 - 2875

Trade debtors are stated after provisions for impairment of £0.6m (2021: £0.4m).

Trade debtors balances falling due after more than one year are £nil (2021: £nil). Deferred tax assets of
£122.9m (2021: £177.7m) are recoverable after more than one year.

Amounts owed by related parties are repayable on demand and represent busmess transactlons under
_normal commercial terms and conditions.



‘ McLaren Holdings Limited
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 -

Notes to the Financial Statement$

Company
2022 2021
_ ‘ 4 £m . Em
Amounts owed by Group undertakmgs : . 12126 '914.6
Deferred tax asset (note 23) . " - 9.5
Prepayments and accrued income ' 1.4 1.6
1,2140 . 9257

Amounts owed by group undertakings include loans and interest accrued thereon. £1,138.0m of grbup loans

- attract interest at 7.5% (2021: £858.6m, 6.25%), are unsecured and repayable on demand. £5.4m of the

group loans attract iht_erest of 7.5% (2021: £2.7m, 5%) and are repayable on demand. £4.9m (2021: £6.9m)
of group loans are interest free (originally £7.5m discounted at a market rate of interest) and are repayable

in July 2023. £27. 1m of the group loans attract interest of 5.3% (2021: £27.1m) and are repayable by July
2023.

A

".18. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

G"'mp 2022 2021
£m £m

Bank loans and ovérdrafts (note 20) - . - 15.0 . .
Obligations under finance ieases (note 20) ‘ A 1.6 ' 1.7
Trade creditors _ S 59.0 64.0
Amounts owed to related parties (note 29). . ' 17.8 - 4.8
Other creditors : ‘ 629 . 70.8
Taxation and social security - - 181 5.2
Derivaﬁve ﬁnancial liabilities (note 24 and 25) ‘ o - 16.0 13.4
‘Accruals and deferred incorne ’ . ' _ 2234 179.6
413.8 | -339.5

The Group is party to a trade finance arrangement whereby a ﬂﬁancial institution settl.es certain trade
debtors in advance of the cash being due from the debtor. The financial institution has insurance coverage

-in place in the event of non-payment by the debtor. Other creditors include.£17.6m (2021: £11.2m) of Trade

Finance; relating to £17.6m of trade debtors (2021: £11.2m). The facility can also be used to finance finished
goods of the Group and £1.6m was drawn at December 2022 (2021: £14.3m). The total facility available is
up-to US$220m or equivalent, at a calculated interest rate of SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average) for
Sterling, US LIBOR for US Dollars and Euribor (for Euros) forthe applicable period plus the bank funding
cost (if any) plus a margin of 1.125% plus a credit adjustment spread In addition, other creditors also include
£20.5m (2021: £18.5m) of drawn other working capital financing facilities associated with mventorles of the
Group, to support working capital management and cash flows.
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. 2022 - 2021
Company £m ' . fm
Bank Loans and overdrafts - 15.0 -
Amounts owed to group undertakings : ' - . 459.7 299.6
Accruals and deferred income - ‘ ' - 0.2 ‘ 0.1

C 474.9 299.7

“McLaren Holdings Limited is party to an unlimited cross company guarantee securing all monies due, or to
become due, in respect of the overdraft and £95.0m loan facility (2021: £95.0m) provided to McLaren
Holdings Limited by its bankers. As at 31 December 2022 the balance guaranteed was £nil (2021: £nil).

"Amounts owed to group undertaklngs include group loans of '£418.3m (2021: £273.6m) which accrue
interest at a rate of 7 5% (2021: 6.25%), are unsecured and repayable on demand.

19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

~

2022 2021

* Group £m £m
~ Senior sectred notes (note 20) : : _ 503.2 448.1 ‘
Obligations under finance leases (note 20) 5 ‘ - 1.6
Amounts owed to parent undertakings v o 7.3 6.8
Derivative financial liabilities (note 24 and 25) o o 1.2 - 3.4

e 5117 4599

Company 2022 - 2021
-ompany , 4 £m £m
Amounts owed to group undertakings _ : ' 510.5 4550
510.5 455.0

Wlthln amounts owed to group undertaklngs £7.3m of group loans are interest free (originally £7.5m
discounted at a market rate of interest), secured and repayable in July 2023.

The remaining amount relates to a term loan facility of USD $620.0m (£512.3m less transaction fees), due
in August 2026 at a rate of 7.5% interest. The loan facility is secured by way of a fixed and ﬂoatmg charge ‘
over the total assets of the Group and its subsrdlanes unless designated as unrestricted.
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20.. Loans and other borrowings

Group

2022 2021
. £m £m
Bank loans and overdraft 15.0 -
Senior secured notes ' : A 4 503.2 -448.1
Obligations under finance leases ' L ' 4 1.6 ‘ 3.3
Amounts owed to parent undertakings : - 7.3 . 6.9
5271 458.3

Bank Ioans.and overdraft

~ The GroUp's financing facility includes a Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of £95.0m. The balance available
to draw is reduced by £40.0m committed guarantee facility, and the overdraft available of £15.0m. At 31 ~
December 2022 there was no bank overdraft drawn (2021: £nil), and the RCF was drawn at £15.0m (2021:
£nil) with a final maturity date of May 2026. Interest is charged at SONIA plus 3.75% on the drawn down
amount. i : )

The revolving credit facility and senior secured hotes are secured by way of a fixed and floating charge over
the total assets of McLaren Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries unless designated as unrestricted.

A number of the Group's subsidiaries have provided guarantees in respect of the obligations under the
revolving credit facility and the Group is restricted in its use of assets secured by these facilities. .

Senior secured notes

In August 2021, McLaren Finance Plc, a subsidiary of McLaren Holdiﬁgs Limited, issued US$620m 7.50%
Senior Secured Notes due August 2026 and repaid the outstanding £370m 5% Senior Secured Notes due
August 2022, and $350m 5.75% Senior Secured Notes due August 2022 at the same time.

Under the terms of the revolving credit facility and the senior secured notes the Group has certain covenants
- and restrictions (in respect of matters such as indebtedness, dividends, acquisitions, investments, disposals,.
transfers etc). ’ '

Interest rates
"The Group's borrowings have limited exposure to floéting interest rates and the facilities where floating rates-

are applied have been transitioned to the new benchmark during the year with the applicable reference rate
being SONIA. The Senior Secured Notes apply a fixed interest rate.
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Fiﬁance leases

The future minimum finance lease payments are as follows:

2022 2021

: . £m ‘£m
Not later than one year ' 1.7 1.9
Later,than one year and not later than five years ‘ - 1.6
Total gross payments . - ' ' 17 35
Less finance charges ' ‘ : ‘ : Co(0.1) . (0.2)

Carrying amount of liability - o ' _ V B 1.6 33
The finance leases prirharily relate to IT equipment.and data storage systems.
21, Post-em'ployment benefits

Defined Contribution scheme

The Group provides a defined contribution scheme for its employees. The amount recognised as an
expense for the defined contribution scheme was:

Group - ' - ' ‘ ' 2022 -~ 2021
T : ~ £m £m
Current year contributions . ) . : . 4.2 3.7

22. Provisions for liabilities

~Group oo Dilapidations - Product End of Other Total
: . . Warranty =  Contract : : ’
' £m - £m £m £m ~ £m
1.January 2022 1.8 15.8 . 19.9 . 7.6 -45.1
Additions : 0.2 38.0 4.8 - 94 52.4
Amounts utilised - (256.2) (13.3) (4.4) - (42.9)

31 December 2022 ) 20 28.6 1.4 12,6 54.6

Dilapidations provision

The dilapidations provision relates to the contractual obligation to reinstate all leased premises to their
original condition upon cessation of the lease. The provision is measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to" be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. The provision is expected to be utilised between 2023 and
2038. ' : :

_P}oduct Warranty provision

The Group is liable for the parts and labour costs associated with repairing manufacturing faults arising on
vehicles during.the warranty period (typically three years). The provision for product warranties reflects the
.expected claims value during the remaining warranty period for vehicles under warranty at the reporting
date. It is estimated that £34.6m (2021: £8.9m) of the provision will be utilised within 12 months. :

N
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End of Contract prowsnon

The provnsnon is for the Group's obligation to provide a residual value guarantee to the finance prowder on
the Personal Contract Purchase (PCP) arrangements between the retailers and.customers. The provision
covers estimated losses on these contracts based on the contractually agreed residual value between the
Group and the bank, and the forecast resale price for a used vehicle. The provision is expected to be utilised
over the length of the lease which is usually 3 years but is adjusted for new cars sold and market conditions.

Other provision

. Other prov:smns mclude various legal matters where the-outcome is not certain and has been estlmated
provision for commitments made to customers at the point of sale, estimated customer goodwill and
compensation payments and provision for costs associated with forecast CO2 vehicle limits which relate
to credits that permit us to sell our cars into restricted regions where we exceed the CO2 vehicle limit. The
remainder of the balance comprises individually insignificant amounts.

The Cbmpany had no prdvision for liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (2021: £Nil).
23. Deferred tax asset

The deferred tax consists of the following deferred tax asseté/(liabilities):

2022 ’ 2021

Group | £m | £m
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 6.4 © 6.3
Revaluation of heritage assets . ' an (4.6)
Financial instruments o g o © 0.6 0.9
‘Other timing differences S 11.9 8.6
Foreign exchange reserve ' o 1.5 2.1
Tax R&D incentives , o Ny | 115 9.8 -
Losses carried forward " . I 94.8 154.6

‘ 125.0 177.7

- Group -

. . . £m -

The movement in net deferred tax assets is reconciled as follows:

At 1 January 2022 | S . 177.7
Add: net deferred tax credit for the year recognised in income statement (note 11) 7.2
Less: derec’ognition of previously recegnised'deferred tax assets (hote 11) ‘62 35
Add: deferred tax charge recognised in other comprehensnve (expense)/lncome S 24

At 31 December 2022 ' : _ ' S 125.0
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The deferred tax asset consists of the following:

2022 2021

: : £m . Em
Losses carried forward ) o : R ' - 2.2

The Company deferred tax assets expected to reverse in 2023 total £Nil (2022 £Nil). The tradlng Iosses
" do not expire. .

The Group deferred tax assets expected to reverse in 2023 total £Nil (2022: £N‘iI) Tax losses with a carrying '
value of £62.3m have been derecognised during 2022 where taxable profits to offset these losses were not
probable based on the current busmess plan

At31 December 2022 the Group has losses amounting to £1.0m (2021 £1.0m)in respect of UK subsidiaries
which are only avarlable for offset against future capital gains, and since it is uncertain whether these Iosses
will be utilised, no deferred tax asset has been recognised. The trading losses do not expire.

There are also £Nil. (2021. £Nil) of unrecognrsed trade. losses in respect of overseas locations where
recovery is not certain. Further, there are £424m (2021: £2.0m) of unrecognised UK trade losses where it
is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. : ‘

24. Financial instruments

- The Group has the following financial instruments: , o Group
. o S : : ’ ~ 2022 2021
' : : » ' £m £m
_Financiat assets measured at fair value through brofit orloss - A 4
' - Derivative financial assets (notes 17 & 25) : 29 . 62
Fmancral assets that are debt mstruments measured at amortised cost ’
- Trade debtors (note 17) : . T . 53.5 A ' 50.0
.- Other debtors (note 17) . . A o 189 182
- Accrued income (note 17) - ' 8.6 88
' ' A 83.9 832 -
"Financial liabilities measured at fair value through 'profit and loss ) ‘ '
. Derivative financial liabilities (notes 18, 19 and 25) . 172 16.8
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost ‘ ,
. - Bank Loan (note 18) T ' . 15.0 -
- Senior secured notes (note 19) ' e ' 503.2 = - 448.1
- Finance leases (notes 18 and 19) S ‘ 16 - 33
- Trade creditors (note 18) = A o 59.0 " 64.0
- Other creditors (note 18) 3 o 629 70.8
- Accruals (note 18) | | o - 1424 1200

801.3 723.0

70



McLaren Holdings Limited
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 -

“Notes to the Fihaneial Statements

25. Derivative financial instruments

G>roup S - Current _ Non-current
2022 2021 2022 - 2021

_ ‘£m £m . £m . £m
Assets « .
Forward foreign currency contracts 24 58 0.5 ] 0.4
Liabilities ' .
Forward foreign currency contracts (16.0) {13.4) ' (1.2) (3.4)
’ ' ___(13.6) (7.6) (07) (3.0)

The Group enters into forward forelgn exchange contracts to mitigate the exchange rate risk exposure from
payments and receipts in foreign currency. At 31 December 2022, the outstanding contracts mature out to
October 2024. The Group has entered into fixed forward contracts and forward option contracts to sell
various currencues primarily USD-and to purchase Euros

Forward forelgn currency contracts are valued using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves
derived 'from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.

The Company had no derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
Forward'fo‘reign‘currency contracts | .

.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at the year end.

Outstanding " Average contractual
contracts : exchange rate ’ - Notional value . Mark to Market

' ' ‘ £m £m £m . £m
"Sell _ o
Usb ] ’ 1313 - 1:3670 . 1744 339.9 (14.9) ' (3.4) .
JPY 155.6633  146.5936 303 55.7 (0.2) 29
CNY . 8.6180 92228 . 259 315 "y (22
AUD 16575 . 22.0 ; 03) - . .
EUR , 14373 14262 1215 . 2078 22 (8.0)

' ’ (14.3) ~ (10.7)

The Group has entered into forward foreign currency contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arieing .
from anticipated future transactions, which are designated as cash flow hedges. The hedged cash flows
 are expected to occur and to affect profit or loss within the next three financial years.

Losses of £29.0m (2021: Gains of £2.3m) wefe recognised in profit or loss in 2022.
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26. ‘Called-up share capital and reserves

- Share Capital :
Group and company '
Ny . : - » 2022 12021
Ordinary shleres of £0.01 each o ’ ' £m m
Allotted and fully paid: o A B
At 1 January and 31 December o 0.1 - 0.1

The Company has one class of ordlriary shares which carry no right to fixed income. Dividend payment
requires a 75% shareholder approval. In August 2021 McLaren Holdmgs Limited |ssued 100 ordmary 1p
shares at a consideration of £1.9m per share.

" Reserves : ' o )
" Merger reserve represents the Group reconstruction relief that arose upon merger of McLaren Automotive
into the McLaren Group in 2017. : -

Capltal contribution reserve arises on gifts or equiva‘lent made to the Cor’hpany by a shareholder, with the
current balance relating to a discount on a shareholder loan as part of the group reconstruction in 2017.

The Other reserves represent a combination of the rhovement on the effective portion of cash flow hedges _
and the impact of forergn exchange movements on the consolidation of foreign subsrdlarles .

Revaluation reserve relates to the herltage assets.
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27, Cash used in,bperating activities

Reconciliation of loss to cash used in operating activities

2022 2021

: , £m £m
Loss for the financial year- o - .. (334.7) " (6.1)
Adjustments for: , . A : .
Tax on loss _ - . 59.8 (61.4)
Net interest expense : ' ' 143.6 53.4
Profit on sale of share in subsidiary - . . - (2.8)
Operating loss ' ‘ : ' o (131.3) . (16.9)
Depreciation and amortisation expense . o 153.0 155.6
Impairment of intangible assets C - 2141 1.3
Share of results of joint venture A S - : 33.1
Increase in heritage assets . - . (1.1) -
Realised net exchange (Ioés)/gain . : - (35.4) 16.7 .
Net ioss on disposal of subsidiary - ' - 333
Profit on disposal of fixed assets. - ‘ . - (87.7)
Profit on disposal of heritage assets (86.5) . (80.8)
Net gain on disposal of investment A - (79.5)
6perating cash outflow befm"e movements in working capitalv (80.2) (4.9)
Decrease/(increase) in stocks and work in progress '17.5 - (77.0)
(Increasg)/decrease in debtors : o ) . (13.8) . 810
Increase/(decrease) in creditors . : 51.2 - (57.5)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts owed to related parties . . 9.8 ' (3.8)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions : : A ' 9.5 (1.6)
Cash used in operating activities ' : ‘ ‘ (6.0) .. (63.8)

Non-cash transactions

During the year new tangiblé assets acquired under ﬁnancé leases were £Nil (2021: £Nil). -In addition, £Nil
(2021: £0.4m) in new tangible assets were acquired but not settled, with amounts owing to third parties at
year end reflected in trade creditors and accruals.
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Cash flows Fair value & Non-Cash At31
January " exchange changes December
2022 - movements - ' 2022
o | £m £m. £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 76.7 23.0 1.0 - 100.7
Revolving credit facility . - 16.0 - - - 15.0
Senior secured notes (448.1) - (53.1) (2.0) (503.2)
Finance Leases (3.3) 1.7 - - (1.6)
Amounts owed to parent (6.8) - - (0.5) (7.3)
undertaking .
Total . (381.5) 39.7 . . (52.1) (2.5) (396.4)
‘Non-cash movements rebresent effective interest rate adjustments which include debt issue costs.
28. - Financial commitments
At 31 December the Group had the following future minimum Iease payments under non- cancellable
operatlng leases for each of the following periods:
Grou 2022 2021
P £m £m
" Payments due: _
Not later than one year 281 242
Later than one year'and, not later than five years 101.0 90.5
“Later than five years 257.0 . 267.1
' 386.1 381.8

The above includes the commitment associated with the Sale & Leaseback transaction that occurred in April
2021 and resulted in the sale of the McLaren Technology Centre and McLaren Production Centre. The
Group agreed.a 20-year lease whereby the site will remain the Group's headquarters. Under the terms of
the lease the Group has a right until April 2023 to request a reset of the rental charge based on certain
market factors. The rent is subject to annual inflationary increases based on an agreed cap and collar.

The Group has issued guarantees and irrevocable Letter of Credits which reduces the fundlng available
under the Group's revolving credit facility. The balance at 31 December 2022 was £27.4m (2021 £32. 5m)

Capltal commltments as at 31 December 2022 totalled £113.5m (2021: £66 Om).

,The Company had no financial commitments at 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
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Transactions with related companies during the year were as follows:

- Year ended

31 December

) 2022

Group - | £m

Sales to related parties

Directors ' o -

Directors of subsidiaries. ' .

Mile Marketing Limited : "100.4

McLaren Racing ' 15.4

McLaren Group " 32

Amounts owed: by related parties at 31

December -

Split by:

Amounts owed by related parties due < 1 year.

Amounts owed by related parties due > 1 year

Year ended -

" 31 December

Group . 2(::2':
A ‘Purchases from related parties

Mile Marketing Limited ' 0.4

McLaren Racing

McLaren Group 6.3

Amounts owed to related parties at 31 December
Split by.
Amounts owed to related parties due < 1 year Y-

Amounts owed to related parties due > 1 year

89 -

. Balance

. outstanding at

31 December

| 2022
£m

0.4
0.9
59

7.2

7.2

7.2

Balance
outstanding at
31 December

2022
£m

04

153
S 24
17.8

17.8

17.8

Year ended
31 December

2021
£m

0.1
0.4
20.5
27

_Year ended -
31 December .

2021

£m

53

29

Mile Marketing Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bahrain MUmtaIakat Holding Company.

Balance

_ outstanding at
31 Decemper

2021
£m

4.1
41

4.1

Balance
outstanding at
31 December

2021
£m

0.9
3.9
4.8

.4.8

4.8
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~ Amounts owed to McLaren Racmg are repayable on demand and represent business transactlons under

normal commercial terms and conditions.-

6§

Other than the transactlons disclosed above, the Group's other related party transactlons were wnth wholly

‘owned subsidiaries and so have not been disclosed.

30. Ultimate controlling party

- McLaren Group Limited is the parent company of the Group and at 31 December 2022 McLaren Group
Limited’s shareholders was as follows: 59.91% Bahrain. Mumtalakat Holding Company, 14.39% TAG
- Automotive Limited, 9.99% Nidala (BVI) Limited, 5.61% Favorita Limited, 3.96% Periman Investments ‘

‘Limited, 3. 59% McKal Holdings Limited, and 2.56% Altitude Holdings RSC Limited.

Bahrain Mumtalakat Holding Company, registered addreSs Arcaplta Building, 4th Floor, Building No. 551,
Road 4612, Sea Front 346, Bahrain Bay, Kingdom of Bahrain (incorporated in Bahrain), is the parent.
" Company of the largest and smallest Group of undertakings which included the Company and for which .

Group fi nan0|al statements were prepared

_31. Subsidiaries and related undertakmgs
AII the below sub5|d|ar|es are wholly owned and included in the consolldatlon of the Group:_

Name h ' Pnncnpal activity

Incorporated in the UK:

McLaren Automotive’Limited ' Development, manufacture and sale of
ce high performance sports cars
McLaren Automotive Events Limited . Events' Company
McLaren Finance Plc - Financing Company
McLaren Services Limited . Managed services
~ McLaren Support Services Limited ' Managed services
Name ' . . Country of . Principal activity

incorporation

Incorporated overseas: . S

MclLaren Automotive Inc, mcorporated in USA ' Sports car retailer
the United States of America . ' : '
McLaren Automotive Asia Pte Limited, Singapore Sports car retailer .
incorporated in Singapore ' T

McLaren Automotive Distribution China Sports car retailer

(Shanghai) Company Limited,
‘incorporated in China Co-

McLaren Automotive Europe S.LU o Spain Maintenance and repair

) mcorporated in Spain . - of motor vehicles

-Holding
ordinary’
share capital

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%.

Holding
ordinary
share capital

100%
- 100%

100%

100%

The reglstered office for all UK lncorporated companies is: McLaren Technology Centre, Chertsey Road,

Woking, Surrey, GU21 4YH.:
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~MclLaren Automotlve Inc reglstered office is: Baker & McKenzie LLP 1114 Avenue of the Americas, New
York, New York, 10036.

MclLaren Automotlve Asia Pte Limited reglstered office is: 7 Temasek Boulevard, Suntec Tower One #27-
05, Singapore 038987.

McLaren Automotive Dlstrlbut|on (Shanghal) Company L|m|ted reglstered off ice is: Unit 11 02 West Tower,
1299 Minsheng Road, Pudong District, Shanghai, 200135, P. R China.

McLaren Automotive Europe S.LU reglstered office is Pollgono Industrial de L'arbornar, S/N, Santa Ohva
43710, Tarragona : :

-32. Post balance sheet events

On 14 March 2023 the Group confi rmed that shareholders of McLaren Group Limited had prowded £70.0m
in additional funding, as part of an ongoing recapitalisation process. This £70.0m of funds was invested into
. the Group as ordinary share capital. A broader recapitalisation involving the Group’s existing shareholders
to fully fund Mclaren’s product development strategy was noted as being subject to ongoing shareholder
discussion with further updates on this process to be provided in due course.
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